#### Nanoparticles as 'smart' pharmaceutical delivery

### Chiranjib Chakraborty<sup>1</sup>, Soumen Pal<sup>2</sup>, George Priya Doss. C<sup>3</sup>, Zhi-Hong Wen<sup>4</sup>, Chan-Shing Lin<sup>4</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Bio-informatics, School of Computer and Information sciences, Galgotias University, India, <sup>2</sup>Manufacturing Division, School of Mechanical and Building Sciences, VIT University, Vellore, India, <sup>3</sup>Centre for Nanobiotechnology, Medical Biotechnology Division, School of Bio-Sciences and Technology, VIT University, Vellore- 632014, India, <sup>4</sup>Department of Marine Biotechnology and Resources, College of Marine Science and Division of Marine Biotechnology, Asia-Pacific Ocean Research Center, National Sun Yat-sen University, Kaohisung, Taiwan

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

#### 1. Abstract

- 2. Introduction
- 3. Nanoparticles-based delivery systems: Types and properties
  - 3.1. Protein based delivery systems
    - 3.1.1. Albumin
    - 3.1.2. Gelatin
    - 3.1.3. Gliadin
    - 3.1.4. Legumin
    - 3.2. Natural polymers and their derivates
    - 3.2.1. Chitosan
    - 3.2.2. Dextran
    - 3.2.3. Starch
    - 3.2.4. Liposome
  - 3.3. Polymeric carriers
    - 3.3.1. Polylactic acid
    - *3.3.2. Block copolymers*
    - *3.3.3. Polvethyleinemine*
    - 3.4. Dendrimers
    - 3.4.1. Poly (amidoamine) spherical dendrimers (PAMAM)
    - 3.4.2. Poly (propylene imine) dendrimers (PPI)
    - 3.5. Fullerene
    - 3.5.1. Buckyball clusters
  - 3.6. Carbon nanotubes (CNTs)
- 4. Main factors for nano based delivery systems
  - 4. 1. Particle size
  - 4. 2. Surface charge
- 5. Pharmaceutical ingredients loaded in the nanoparticle delivery systems
- 6. Pharmaceutical ingredient release from delivery systems
- 7. Promising pharmaceutical deliveries
  - 7.1. Brain targeted drug delivery
  - 7.2. Pulmonary drug delivery
  - 7.3. Ocular drug delivery
  - 7.4. Oral delivery
  - 7.5. Dermal and transdermal delivery
  - 7.6. Cancer chemotherapy
  - 7.7. Vaccine delivery
  - 7.8. Therapeutic nucleic acids
  - 7.9. Delivery system coupling to implants
- 8. Commercial market
- 9. Toxicological effects of nanoparticle mediated drug delivery
- 10. Conclusion
- 11. References

#### 1. ABSTRACT

Pharmaceuticals in conjunction with nanoparticle delivery systems are growing towards new heights. The aim of this review is to gain a thorough understanding of different types and characteristics of nanoparticle based delivery systems, important properties of delivery systems, pharmaceutical ingredient loading and release in the nanoparticle delivery systems. In this review, we have also highlighted about the promising pharmaceutical deliveries like brain targeted delivery, ocular delivery, oral delivery, dermal and transdermal delivery, cancer chemotherapy, vaccine delivery, nucleic acids delivery and delivery system coupling to implants. A snapshot of the



Figure 1. Biodegradable nanoparticle based drug delivery system. (A) nanosphere (B) nanocapsule

nanoparticle mediated drug deliveries which are commercially available and ongoing clinical trials have been provided.

#### 2. INTRODUCTION

Drug delivery technologies play a vital role in pharmaceutical industry. The efficiency and marketability of drugs depends on the mode of delivery. Currently, industries are moving to new delivery systems to effectively and safely deliver novel products and formulations. Several products derived from new delivery systems are generating interest in the medical practice in recent years causing several pharmaceutical companies to pioneer drug delivery system development (1, 2). With the help of a new drug delivery system, an existing drug candidate molecule obtains a new chance. Its market price, competitiveness and patent life are increased (3). On the other hand, patent expiration is one of the biggest current concerns for the pharmaceutical industry. To go around this, a new drug delivery system can give an existing drug a new marketability. Henceforth, the development of novel delivery systems is a high priority for the pharmaceutical companies especially because the global market for drug delivery systems in 2010 was recorded at \$131.6 billion and will hold \$137.8 billion by the end of 2011 and \$175.6 billion by 2016 end. Therefore, the sell is expected to rise at a compound annual growth rate (CAGR) of 5% (4).

Nanotechnology is an exhilarating area for the development of drug delivery systems using nanoparticles, with dimension range of 1-100 nm (5, 6). Nanoparticles have the ability to deliver an ample range of molecules to varying areas of the body and for sustained periods of time.

For a nanoparticle based delivery system, the key objectives are size of particles, surface properties as well as discharge of drugs or the active ingredients to accomplish highest efficacy (7, 8). During the early 1980s, a number of delivery systems were formulated to get better the effectiveness of drug active agents and to reduce toxic side effects (9). During that time, micron sized particles or microparticles were formulated; but there was a size limit. Conversely, for the pharmaceutical industry, drug-loaded particles were comparatively less efficient due to rapid phagocytosis particularly after intravenous administration (10). Nowadays, this problem has been resolved through the surface modifications of the delivery particles.

In this review paper, we highlight the different varieties and properties of nanoparticle based drug delivery systems and different promising pharmaceutical delivery systems. Further, we discuss the toxicological effects, commercial applications and future direction of nanoparticle based delivery systems.

## 3. NANOPARTICLES-BASED DELIVERY SYSTEMS: TYPES AND PROPERTIES

Delivery technologies represent an important broader part of science, which engages multidisciplinary methodical improvement. Usually, delivery systems are associated with a carrier. In nanoparticle based delivery systems, the active compound is dissolved or entrapped or encapsulated in the carrier; in addition, the active compound could be adsorbed or attached to the nanoparticle (11). Often the drug is attached with the nanosphere and encapsulated in nanocapsule (Figure 1). There are several advantages of nanoparticles as delivery systems. First, the particle size, particle morphology and surface charge of nanoparticles can be easily controlled (12). Second, controlled and sustained discharge of the active molecule in the time of the delivery and at the location of localization. Third, particle degradation properties can change with a modified carrier. Lastly, the site-specific delivery can be carried out in nanoparticle based delivery systems that can be used for various routes of drug deliveries like oral, nasal, parenteral, etc. Based on the importance, the development of nanoparticle based delivery systems is rapidly growing using proteins, natural polymers, synthetic polymers, and fullerenes.

## 3.1. Protein based delivery systems

Several nano-sized protein based delivery systems are available (Figure 2A). Albumin, gelatin, gliadin and legumin are the protein based nanoparticles which play a vital role in drug delivery. Among these proteins, albumin, gelatin are animal based; gliadin and legumin are plant based.

## 3.1.1. Albumin

Albumin is a versatile protein carrier, and extensively used to construct nanospheres and nanocapsules (13). Albumin is a plasma protein which is well accepted due to its harmless in nature such as nonhazardous, non-immunogenic, biocompatible and biodegradable nature (14). Several nanotechnological methodologies such as desolvation, emulsification, thermal gelation, nano-spray drying and self-assembly are used quite often for fabrication of albumin nanoparticles especially from bovine serum albumin (BSA) as well as human serum albumin (HSA) (15,16). Albumin carries different reactive groups such as thiol, amino, and carboxylic groups. These groups can be applied for ligand binding or other surface alterations. Albumin has a tendency to accumulate on solid tumors (17) and therefore, this property has been explored for site-specific delivery of noscapine, anti-tumor drugs. For example. а benzylisoquinoline alkaloid from plants of the papaveraceae family has been recently delivered to tumor cells to see its efficacy as anticancer agent using HSA nanoparticle carrier. Here, optimal ranges (150-300 nm) of HSA nanoparticle size and drug-loading effectiveness (85%-96%) have been achieved (18). Therefore, albumin nanoparticle is particularly useful for efficient delivery of chemical and pharmaceutical active ingredients.

## 3.1.2. Gelatin

Gelatin comes from collagen which is a fundamental component of animal skin, bones or connective tissue and used in the production of nanoparticle delivery systems. Stringy collagen, an insoluble protein, is hydrolyzed to prepare gelatin (19). It is a biodegradable and non-toxic nanoparticle that is easy to crosslink (20). As such, there is an enormous scope for the research of colloidal drug delivery using gelatin (21, 22). Gelatin molecule contains amino acids such as glycine, proline and alanine; and these amino acids are accountable for the helical arrangement especially triple helical structure of this molecule (23). Sometimes, chemical modifications can be performed in the process of preparing the nanoparticles for the development of a drug delivery system (24).

Recently, a study by Lee et al. (25) loaded three dissimilar drugs (tizanidine hydrochloride, gatifloxacin and fluconazole) in gelatin nanoparticles. This group reported that gelatin nanoparticle filled with tizanidine hydrochloride, blank nanoparticles and gatifloxacin- filled nanoparticles, under crosslinked situation, 59.3, 23.1 and 10.6% yield of drug loaded gelatin. In another study by Zhao et al. (26), they used gelatin nanoparticles with insulin used for diabetes treatment through pulmonary administration. These findings reflect the better bioavailability, speedy and stable hypoglycemic outcome. Several reports on the applications of gelatin nanoparticle based drug delivery systems include ocular delivery (27), anticancer drug delivery (28), etc. In gelatin drug delivery system, the outer of layer gelatin capsule (hard and soft ) has a tendency to form inter or intra-molecular cross-link that is dependent on time, temperature and humidity; because of this trend, the use of gelatin in pharmaceutical formulations is debated (29).

## 3.1.3. Gliadin

Gliadin, a plant based protein, is suitable for the construction of mucoadhesive nanoparticles. It can be extracted from wheat and vicillin (30). Based on the natural origin, biodegradability, and biocompatibility, this nanoparticle is used in various drug deliveries. This drug delivery is used for controlled release of pharmaceutical ingredients (31). To evaluate its bioadhesive properties, gliadin nanoparticle was added to carbazole in two forms i.e. non-hardened gliadin nanoparticles (NPs) as well as cross-linked gliadin nanoparticles (CL-NP). Both of these nanoparticles showed a good absorption at the upper gastrointestinal regions, especially in the stomach mucosa (32). When gliadin nanoparticles were used for the oral delivery of tetanus toxoid, the results showed 50% w/w antigen stability over 3 weeks of testing (33). Thus, it has greater potential for the delivery of active molecules in targeted therapy of upper gastrointestinal tract and possibly for other targeted delivery systems.

## 3.1.4. Legumin

Legumin is a protein from pea and a source of sulfur-containing amino acids. Legumin-based nanoparticle delivery systems can be made following aggregation and chemical cross-linkage with glutaraldehyde (34). Irache *et al.* (35) prepared legumin nanoparticles of approximately 250 nm diameter using the pH-coacervation method and chemical cross-linking with glutaraldehyde. However, one study with legumin immunized rats robustly expressed antibodies against this protein. This may be due to the reduction of antigenic epitopes of is protein bring on the glutaraldehyde employed throughout the cross-linking (34).

## **3.2.** Natural polymers and their derivates

Nanoparticle based delivery systems can be prepared from different natural materials. Chitosan, dextran, starch, liposome (Figure 2B) etc. are such nanoparticle based drug delivery systems.



Figure 2. Different types of drug delivery system (A) protein based delivery systems (B) natural material based drug delivery system (liposamol drug delivery) (C) polymer drug carriers (D) dendrimer drug delivery system (E) fullerene drug delivery system

#### 3.2.1. Chitosan

Chitosan, is a structural part within exoskeleton of subphylum crustaceans, can be formed commercially by deacetylation (36). It is biodegradable, safe, biocompatible, easily modified, no difficulty for DNA or protein composite formation, widespread accessibility, and lowpriced which makes the chitosan a promising delivery system. It is of natural origin making it well accepted for the biological applications. Chitosan, a mucoadhesive polymer increases the cellular permeability, improves the bioavailability of orally delivered protein based drugs (37) and boosts the protein uptake (38-41). Oral delivery of chitosan DNA nanoparticles was examined for vaccine delivery and seems to be useful for inducing immune system against *Toxoplasma gondii* (42).

#### 3.2.2. Dextran

Dextran is a complex, polysaccharide of Dglucose monomers linked by glycosidic bonds (43). Magnetite dextran nanoparticles can be developed from dextran. These particles have null zeta potential which contributes to high safety margin and efficacy (44). Presently, this polysaccharide nanoparticle is used as drug carrier system (45) in tumor targeted delivery (46), oral delivery of insulin (47), reticuloendothelial delivery (48) etc. It has been reported that chitosan-carboxymethyl dextran nanoparticles regulate cell proliferation and serum cytokine (49).

#### 2.2.3. Starch

Starch is a natural polymer found in grains of plants like rice, corn, wheat, tapioca, potato etc. It is biodegradable and abundant biomass material in nature (50, 51). Nanocrystal (52), nanoparticles (53) and nanocolloids (54) were prepared from the starch. Several researchers have used starch as a drug delivery system. Cross-linked starch nanoparticles with hydrophobic end were used for drug delivery of indomethacin (55). Starch has been used as drug delivery system for tumor-targeted drug delivery (56), trans-dermal drug delivery (57) and brain tumortargeted drug delivery (58). A starch microsphere is utilized as drug delivery for tissue engineering. This starch microsphere further loaded with definite growth factors and immobilized, and can be employed for delivery of encapsulate living cells (59).

## 3.2.4. Liposome

Liposome, made of lipid bilayer, is an extensively explored drug delivery system. Its diameter varies from 20 nm to more than a few hundreds of nanometers and width of the phospholipid bilayer is about 4–7 nm (60). Liposomes can be classified into three forms such as multilamellar vesicles (MLV), small unilamellar vesicles (SUV) and large unilamellar vesicles (LUV). MLV consists of a number of concentric bilayers in a particle and the diameter of this liposome may differ from hundred to thousands of nanometers. MLVs can be processed to produce unilamellar vesicles. According to size, unilamellar vesicles (SUV) and large unilamellar vesicles (LUV). SUVs show a diameter lower than 100 nm, while LUVs have diameter bigger than 100 nm (61-63). In

addition, there were several reports indicating the application of liposomes as dyes in textiles (64), pesticides for plants (65), food ingredients (66) and cosmetics to the skin (67) in areas other than drug delivery systems. Several drugs are in clinical trials, which use liposomal delivery systems (68). However, for targeted cancer drug and therapeutic protein delivery, liposome constructed with PEG (Polyethylene Glycol) is one of the sought after preferences for the delivery. It can increase the plasma stability and solubility property of the drug. Conversely, this increase properties help to decrease its immunogenicity and now PEGylated drugs in clinical practice. One example of PEGylated drug is Oncaspar (PEG–L-asparaginase) which familiar to treat acute lymphoblastic leukemia (68).

## 3.3. Polymeric carriers

Several polymer based carriers are available (Figure 2C) such as polylactic acid, block copolymers, polyethyleinemine, etc. These polymer carriers are significant in drug delivery systems.

## 3.3.1. Polylactic acid

Polylactic acid (PLA), thermoplastic aliphatic polyester, is promising biodegradable polyester (79). PLA is a member of the family of aliphatic polyesters. This family usually composed of  $\alpha$  -hydroxy acids. Polylactic acid nanoparticles are used as colloidal drug delivery system for lipophilic drugs (70). This type of delivery system is regularly used for the cancer related drug delivery (71, 72). For example, PEG-coated polylactic acid nanoparticle was used for the delivery of Hexadecafluoro zinc phthalocyanine (ZnPcF16) for the mammary tumor therapy (71). Another example, cucurbitacin, was delivered using polylactic acid nanoparticles to oral cancer (72). Recently, PLA is used for the Plasmid DNA delivery. These results showed lower cytotoxicity compare to Lipofectamine 2000. PLA can transfer gene into HELA cells. From this we conclude that PLA can be a promising non-viral nano-device for cancer gene therapy (73).

## **3.3.2. Block copolymers**

Block copolymers, a type of copolymer, is made up of different polymerized monomers (74). Amphiphilic block copolymers encompass the capacity to bring together into multiple morphologies in solution (75). However, vesicle configuration of amphiphilic block copolymers depends on raise in total molecular weight and increasing bending modulus (K). A vesicular morphology is applicable in the fields of drug delivery (76). Amphiphilic linear-dendritic block copolymers (LDBC) have been developed for drug delivery (77). Further, synthesized LDBC was established to be a candidate for drug delivery due to some important characteristics such as relative stability, drug encapsulation and release property (78). In vitro release behavior of LDBC can be controlled by light which is a potential carrier for controlled drug delivery (79). Recently, biodegradable amphiphilic copolymer was used for cancer drug delivery (80, 81). Eg. Block copolymer COPY-DOX showed high anticancer efficacy in the course of some biochemical test such as MTT assays against cancer cells (80).

## 3.3.3. Polyethyleinemine

Polyethyleneimine, containing secondary amines, is a biodegradable polymer and widely used in the cell culture for the attachment of weakly anchoring cells (82). It is insoluble in cold water, benzene, etc. This polymer includes primary, secondary, and tertiary amino groups. Polyethyleneimine is also used in gene delivery (83, 84) and gene therapy (85). It is also used for drug delivery (86) especially to cross the blood-brain barrier (87). Extreme cytotoxic effect prevents its use from drug delivery (88).

#### 3.4. Dendrimers

Dendrimers are branched polymers, presently used a significant drug carrier system (Figure 2D). Poly (amidoamine) spherical dendrimers, poly (Propylene Imine) dendrimers are similar type of nanoparticle.

## 3.4.1. Poly (amidoamine) spherical dendrimers (PAMAM)

Poly (amidoamine), is one of the well known dendrimers which conatin a diamine. This is commonly used in analytical chemistry in the separation science (89-91). These molecules are used in gene delivery (92). Gamma-Glutamyl PAMAM dendrimers are used as versatile precursor for dendrimer-based delivery of active pharmaceuticals (93).

#### 3.4.1. Poly (propylene imine) dendrimers (PPI)

During the last few years, poly (propylene imine) dendrimers (regularly branched molecules) is popular due to their unique physical properties. Poly (propylene imine) dendrimers are the preeminent surveyed dendrimer systems (94-97). Numerous hybrid dendrimers have been prepared with different end groups with distinctive characters (97-100). Multifunctional dendrimeric systems derived from poly (propylene imine) dendrimers are used as targeted drug delivery systems to encapsulate the drug (101). In a study, antimicrobial activity was analyzed using this delivery system against Bacillus subtilis, Staphylococcus aureus and Escheriachia coli where exceptional inhibition capacity was reported against these bacteria. They used with silver nanoparticles as antimicrobial drug (102). Dendrimer is toxic due to its positively charged exterior part. However, this toxicity can be reduced by putting an outside layer these peripheral cationic groups with carbohydrate residues (103).

#### 3.5. Fullerene

Fullerene, a hollow sphere or tube composed of carbon, can be used as a drug delivery system (Figure 2E). Buckyball clusters are examples of fullerene which have been studied for drug delivery.

#### 3.5.1. Buckyball clusters

Buckyball clusters have hexagons and pentagons linked jointly in a coordinated manner and can develop a hollow ground with bonding strains composed entirely of carbon. All these molecules are used in delivery systems particularly for drugs (104,105).

#### 3.6. Carbon nanotubes (CNTs)

Carbon nanotubes, covalently bonded fullerenes, are used as molecular anchors (106). These fullerenes have bigger inner volume which can be used as the active molecule container. Therefore, several molecules can be attached with this carrier which is readily taken up by the cell (107). CNTs are used in the drug delivery of several molecules, especially for cancer drugs (108,109). These can be applied as biological transporters as well an agent for some cancer cell destruction (108). In vivo distribution and tumor targeting of CNTs have been studied (109). Concerns about CNTs that prevents advancement in its drug delivery applications include lack of solubility, clumping and aggregation and 6.8h half-life (110). However, studies have demonstrated that functionalized CNTs are non-cvtotoxic (111). CNT has fibrous contour which is needle-like and toxic property has been related with asbestos. One of the major concerns is that extensive application of CNT may lead to cancer especially lung cancer (253). However, to avoid excessive surface interactions, CNT can be used as nanocapsules shown its biocompatibility for intravenous drug delivery (254).

# 4. MAIN FACTORS FOR NANO BASED DELIVERY SYSTEMS

There are two main governing factors for the nanoparticle based delivery systems: particle size and surface charge.

#### 4.1. Particle size

Drug loading and its release is affected by particle size distribution (112). Higher intracellular uptake of nanoparticles has been recorded compared to micron sized particles. Nanoparticles can access wide collection of biological targets because of their tiny size and mobility (113). Delivery and distribution experiments have suggested that nanoparticles greater than 230 nm size can congregate in the organ especially in spleen due to the capillary size of this organ (113). Several in vitro studies have pointed out that particle size can also control the cellular uptake of nanoparticles (114, 115). Further, it has been found that particle size is significant for oral drug delivery (113,116). Topical application to the eye is the well established route (113,256). However, it has been found that small size differences may be of influence for the actual distribution and bioavailability (113,225).

Smaller nonoparticle has more surface area. So, the majority of the drug associated would close to the exterior part leading to rapid drug release (117). The large surface area causes the active ingredient to be coupled with in or near the particle exterior part, and this result in faster active ingredient release (117).

#### 4. 2. Surface charge

Surface charge is another important nanoparticle drug delivery system property that can affect the outcome of particles. Surface charge of gold nanoparticles with PEG caused efficient internalization in endosomes and cytosol (118). Poly (DL-lactide-co-glycolide) nanoparticles were found to be ingested by cells by endocytosis (119, 120). It is found that after entering, the nanoparticles get away from these endosomes into the cellular cytoplasm. This depends upon the change in surface charge especially from negative to positive (eg. the PLGA NP resulting in cytoplasmic delivery). It is hypothesized that the positive surface charge influences the escape of these nanoparticles from endosomes (119).

The blood-brain barrier (BBB) is an electrostatic barrier to boundary brain penetration of therapeutics. It has been reported that nanoparticle surface charge can alter blood-brain barrier permeability (121). When the particles are absorbed in the blood, their surface hydrophobicity is related with the amount of adsorbed blood components (122).

#### 5. PHARMACEUTICAL INGREDIENTS LOADED IN THE NANOPARTICLE DELIVERY SYSTEMS

One of the properties to be taken into consideration for a successful nanoparticle drug delivery system is its high loading capacity. This feature is necessary to reduce the volume of the carrier molecules required for administration. The loading of pharmaceutical ingredient in the delivery systems can be performed by two methods: i) Incorporation method: Integrate the drug at the time of nanoparticles production or polymerization in the presence of the drug. This technique is known as incorporation method. ii) Adsorption method: in this method, adsorbing the drug by particles can be performed by incubation in solution.

Drug adsorption is depended on the affinity of the drug to the polymer dispersed in the polymer matrix in the form of a solid solution (123). It has been recorded that the majority of drugs are being entrapped by the incorporation method (124, 125). Additionally, other than the above two methods, another new method of drug loading was proposed by Yoo et al. (126) for the water-soluble drugs. In this method, drug was placed into nanoparticles where doxorubicin-loaded PLGA nanoparticles were prepared for the experiment.

Drug loading is related with the amount of drug bound per mass (generally moles of drug per mg nanocarrier) and represented on a percentage basis. Drug loading is influenced by the type of surface-active materials and stabilizers (127) present. The adsorption of unlike psychopharmacological NPs onto of agents poly (isobutylcyanoacrylate), PIBCA, has been studied using different pH range (128). However, several studies demonstrated that the employment of ionic interface between the drug and matrix materials is one of the successful ways to boost the drug loading (129, 130). The ionic interaction is inversely relative to the distance between the two charged atoms, and also related to the nature of the environment. This enhances the effect of an ionic interaction. This interaction seems to be most important preliminary interaction as the drug enters the binding site. One example is mesoporous nano materials. It was found that mesoporous SBA-15 is more significant for the adsorption and release of BSA. This is because of the equilibrium of electrostatic interaction and hydrophilic interface between BSA and SBA-15 (256).

### 6. PHARMACEUTICAL INGREDIENT RELEASE FROM DELIVERY SYSTEMS

Pharmaceutical ingredient release from nanoparticles and consequent biodegradation are most vital for a new formulation. Pharmaceutical ingredient must be homogeneously spread or suspend in the matrix. If the dispersal of the drug is more rapid than delivery systems degradation, then the process of drug release occurs primarily by diffusion; or else it depends upon degradation. Thus, diffusion and biodegradation govern the process of drug release (131, 132). However, the release rates of pharmaceutical ingredients from delivery systems depend upon conditions such as i) desorption of the surface-bound /adsorbed drug: ii) diffusion of pharmaceutical ingredient from nanocarrier; iii) diffusion of drug through the nanocapsule wall (if the carrier is nanocapsule); and finally, iv) a combined erosion/diffusion process pharmaceutical ingredient and nanocapsules (131).

We can quantify *in vitro* drug release using various methods such as diffusion of cells with membranes, equilibrium dialysis method etc. (131, 133). These methods are useful to assess pharmaceutical ingredient release from the nanocarrier.

## 7. PROMISING PHARMACEUTICAL DELIVERIES

The market of drug delivery in the United States has shown a growth rate of 9% annually (134). Presently, this pharmaceutical delivery technology has incorporated nanotechnology in many frontiers. This advanced technology provides targeted delivery of various therapeutic agents. The unique property of nanoparticle based delivery systems is to deliver the drug in a particular tissue or organ. They have the capability to distinguish a diseased cell from a healthy one in the body (135). Such a mechanism will lead to a highly efficient, targeted delivery system, controlled delivery and optimum bioavailability.

## 7.1. Brain targeted drug delivery

One of the areas of medicine that can benefit from nanoparticle targeted drug delivery is the central nervous system (CNS). The treatment of CNS diseases is limited due to deficiency of the delivery of therapeutic agents. The main cause is the inefficient delivery of drugs which are unable to reach the desired targets. In order to achieve effective treatment for CNS disorders, it is necessary to transfer therapeutic agents across the bloodbrain barrier (BBB) which is a very challenging task even today (136). Nanoparilcle based delivery system can solve this because it can cross the BBB. Additionally, this process may decrease drug leakage and can diminish peripheral toxicity (137, 138). Recently, paclitaxel, anti cancer dug, has been used efficiently for brain cancer using glutathione-coated nanoparticles (139) whereas; paclitaxel alone cannot cross the BBB. It has been noted that aptamer-functionalized PEG-PLGA nanoparticles can improve anti-glioma drug delivery (140). Other than cancer, active therapeutic molecules have been delivered in CNS diseases such as prion disease (141), Alzheimer's disease (142), and antioxidants for the treatment of neurodegenerative diseases (143). However, nanoparticles based delivery systems can cross BBB easily which are creating a lot of hope for the treatment of specific CNS diseases that currently have no cure.

## 7.2. Pulmonary drug delivery

Pulmonary drug delivery is an important route of administration for delivery of therapeutic agents especially for peptides and proteins. Several advantages make the lung as an efficient route for drug delivery. The advantages are i) Large absorptive surface area; ii) Human lung is extremely thin, and it is recorded between 0.1  $\mu$ m – 0.2 um; iii) It provides an absorptive mucosal membrane; iv) Lung is highly vascular with good blood supply, and lastly v) this delivery system can eliminate injection. Therefore, pulmonary route of drug delivery shows great promise (144, 145) utilizing two techniques: aerosol inhalation technique and intratracheal instillation (146). Several nanoparticles based delivery systems are being developed for administration by pulmonary route. Eg. a sildenafilloaded nanoparticle is a promising drug for the therapy of pulmonary arterial hypertension (147). For pulmonary fibrosis and exacerbated lung disease, CNTs allow extensive functionalization and loading of drugs (148). Spray-dried aqueous PLGA nanosuspensions were developed for pulmonary drug delivery which can access the alveolar tissue (149). Antitubercular drugs were encapsulated in poly (DL-lactide-co-glycolide) nanoparticles suitable for nebulization which shows better bioavailability and reduction of dose incidence for better management of pulmonary tuberculosis (150). Presently, pulmonary nanoparticle drug formulations have generated great interest in the pharmaceutical industry, but this is a challenging route of drug administration for new drugs.

## 7.3. Ocular drug delivery

The efficacy of ocular drug delivery is influenced by the corneal contact time (151, 152). Therefore, the major challenge for ophthalmic drugs is controlled and sustained delivery (153). Presently, solutions, suspensions and ointment are the most common topical form of drugs which are used regularly for ocular infections. These conventional dosages are used in people suffering from problems such as poor ocular bioavailability due to anatomical and pathophysiological obstruction existing in the eye (154). Currently, dilutable nanoemulsions are powerful drug delivery vehicles for ocular diseases (155,160). Its sustained effect, high penetration ability into the deeper layers of eye makes a better delivery system. Using nanoemulsion, dorzolamide hydrochloride is used for the treatment of glaucoma (155). Nanosuspensions may be included in a hydrogel base or mucoadhesive base or even in ocular inserts. An experiment has been performed to achieve the desired action of polymeric nanosuspensions loaded with the drug. The result shows better sustainability for the release of the drug (156). A polymeric nanosuspension of flurbiprofen and ibuprofen have been successfully formulated using acrylate polymers such as Eudragit RS 100 and Eudragit RL 100 (157-159). Another approach is to immobilize the drug with the help of the nonovehicle (such as liposome) on the exterior of marketable contact lenses (160). Immobilized of levofloxacin liposome's on NeutrAvidin-coated Hioxifilcon-B contact lenses have been released in this direction. It was noted that approximately 70% drug was free within the initial five hrs and remaining 30% drug discharge occurred over the subsequent 6 days (161). To date, nanoparticle based delivery systems emerged to be an exclusive and so far commercially viable way to combat problems such as reduced bioavailability or other issues of ophthalmologic drugs.

## 7.4. Oral delivery

Presently, an important research has been performed using nanoparticles as oral drug delivery carriers. Oral delivery of drugs using nanocarriers has revealed better delivery in terms of bioavailability and biodistribution (162). For example, insulin-loaded nanoparticles have conserved insulin activity and decrease in blood glucose level in diabetic rats for up to 14 days following the oral delivery (163). Using lactic-co-glycolic acid nanoparticle, salmon calcitonin (sCT)-loaded oral drug delivery system has been evaluated *in vitro* and *in vivo* (164). But, oral protein or peptide delivery still remains to be an issue today because of their poor oral bioavailability.

Nanoparticles can be engineered to distribute a drug directly to the basis for gastrointestinal uptake. These drugs need to be protected from low pH as well as enzymes present in the stomach. The pH-sensitive nanoparticles can be developed from a copolymer (methylacrylic acid and methacyrlate). It may provide a better result for the oral bioavailability of drugs like cyclosporine-which has specific pH inside the gastrointestinal tract. The pH sensitive nanoparticles help the drugs absorption through the Peyer's patches (165).

## 7.5. Dermal and transdermal delivery

Nanocarriers are the promising dermal and transdermal pharmaceutical delivery systems. Most prominent nanocarriers such as microemulsions. liposome's, micron sized, and nanoparticles are in use for dermal and transdermal applications (166). Several nanotechnology based dermal products such as medicated moisturizers, sunscreen are available in the market. The major compounds used for dermal applications are titanium dioxide and zinc oxide. Also, liposomes and niosomes are used in the cosmetic industry as delivery vehicles (167, 168). In addition, nanoemulsions are also used for dermal delivery. Nanoemulsions are nanoscale droplets of one liquid within another (169). From nanoemulsions, we can produce water-like fluids or gels, because emulsions are metastable systems (170). There are several advantages of these gels/water-like fluids, such as i) It can be stabilized to enhance the time before creaming occurs, and therefore, in this way increase the shelf life (171); ii) They are transparent and have bigger surface area because of the tiny particle size, and iii) nano scale dimension of the emulsion has high stability and better suitability to carry drugs (172). Several companies are producing stable nanoemulsions for dermal delivery such as Nanocream® from Sinerga (www.sinerga.it) NanoGel and from Kemira (www.kemira.com). Using lipid nanoparticles, several companies are manufacturing products for increased skin penetration. Muller et al. (173) and Pardeike et al. (174)

have listed commercially available products and their ingredients in dermal delivery. Several drugs in this area have a number of limitations due to problems relating to controlled drug release and achieving therapeutic efficacy. Lipid nanocapsules and solid lipid nanoparticles (SLNs) have been developed with increased efficacy. Lipid nanocapsules (LNC) are colloidal carriers which can offer controlled release property as well as better bioavailability for dermal delivery (175). Solid lipid nanoparticles (SLNs) are investigated due to their potential topical delivery, possible skin compartments targeting and controlled release in the skin. It is also reported that in Fluconazole, an antifungal ingredient, nanoparticles optimize the drug retention in the skin (176).

## 7.6. Cancer chemotherapy

Conventional chemotherapy in cancer suffers drawbacks of toxicity and nonspecificity. from Nanoparicles are potential carriers for cancer drugs because of the ability to specifically target and hit the cancer cells. Gadolinium neutron-capture therapy (Gd-NCT) for cancer was evaluated by Tokumitsu et al. (177) using gadoliniumloaded nanoparticles. The tumor growth in the nanoparticle governed bunch was considerably suppressed related to that in the gadopentetate solution-administered bunch. Glutaraldehyde cross-linked with chitosan having mitoxantrone antitumor activity was estimated using carcinoma in mice. Mean survival was increased to 50 days (178). Nanoparticle carrier with doxorubicin has been delivered to tumor cell successfully (179-181). An albumin-bound structure was added in doxorubicin where metalloproteinase-2 has been included and new matrix was developed (182) which is a targeted delivery in the unique microenvironment surrounding the tumor cells. This important nanoparticle carrier drug is in clinical trials (183). Another example is colloidal gold nanoparticles, a sol comprised of nanoparticles of Au (0), which represents a new tool in the field of particle-based tumor-targeted drug delivery (184). Several other delivery systems have been developed such as liposomes, polymeric micelles, dendrimers, superparamagnetic iron oxide crystals, and colloidal gold etc. These carriers utilize both passive and active targeting strategies (185). Drug resistance appears to be one of the main limiting factors for the chemotherapeutic agents, and P-glycoprotein related drug resistance is well understood (186). However, nanoparticle carrier of drugs can solve the P-glycoprotein-mediated resistance problem (187). It is anticipated that the nanoscale drug delivery systems can solve several problems and provide better cancer chemotherapy.

## 7.7. Vaccine delivery

Nanoparticles (NPs) have gathered increased attention for their ability to serve as a viable carrier for site specific delivery of vaccines. Several methods now exist for synthesizing different sets of nanoparticles based on the type of vaccines used and delivery mechanism selected (188). As an example, nanocarriers are used for the systemic and mucosal delivery of vaccine (189). In fact, mucosal vaccine delivery started because mucosal exterior signify the main point of entry for a lot of pathogens (190). This route offer simplified and cost-effective protocol for

vaccination with anticipation for improved patient For mucosal immunization, PLGA compliance. nanoparticles have been developed against hepatitis B (191). It is reported that antigen-loaded nanocarriers are able of being dynamically absorbed by antigen-presenting cells which have shown the potential for cancer immunotherapy (192). Recently, several strategies have been developed which can initiate antigen-specific immune responses. An antibody-mediated delivery of nanoparticle vaccines has been developed for human dendritic cells (193). New technologies are developed for parasite and viral vaccine as well. Viral vaccines using nanoparticle carriers for H6N2 avian influenza virus and HIV vaccine was investigated using poly (2-hydroxyethyl methacrylate) i.e. pHEMA nanoparticle. This work suggests that by means of 100 µg of pHEMA nanoparticles showed decline in virus shedding and improved the immune response (194). In HIV, disease engages the interaction among the viral envelope-protein gp120 and cell receptor CD4. A study has been performed to demonstrate the interaction of HIV-1 gp120 protein to silica NP (195). This study demonstrated that CD4 bound to silica particles recognized and retained high binding affinity for HIV-gp120 (195). For the effective malarial vaccine, recombinant malarial antigen i.e. merozoite surface protein 1 (rMSP1) has been covalently conjugated to polymer-coated quantum dot CdSe/ZnS nanoparticles (ODs) via surface carboxyl groups forming rMSP1-QDs. This shows promising results to improve the immunogenicity of the polypeptide antigens in adjuvant-free immunizations (196). These novel vaccine platforms utilize engineered nanoparticle delivery system which is more efficient and safer than the previous vaccines.

## 7.8. Therapeutic nucleic acids

Nucleic acids as drugs have a great future in molecular medicine for gene therapy. Using these therapies, it has been projected that several serious diseases can be treated such as genetic diseases, viral infections or cancer (197). Liposome's (198), dendrimers (200), biodegradable polymeric nanoparticles (201) and gold nanoparticles (202) have been used for gene therapy. There are generally two ways of nucleic acids delivery such as encapsulation and conjugation. Nucleic acids like plasmid DNA, RNA, and siRNA can be encapsulated with a nanoparticle (203) or conjugated with the nanoparticle (204-206). One way to link nucleic acids to a nanoparticle, especially DNA, is to modify the surface of the nanoparticle to bring a positive charge. The positive charge of the nanoparticle can bind easily with the negative charge of the DNA. This mechanism is used for liposome and other polymer-mediated nucleic acid transfer (207, 208). Recently, Mendez-Ardoy et al. (209) have developed polycationic amphiphilic cyclodextrin-based nanoparticles which are used for therapeutic gene delivery (IL-12). For siRNA therapeutic delivery, Beloor et al. (210) used arginine-engrafted biodegradable polymer which enhanced accumulation of carrier-siRNA complexes in the tumor tissue. However, there is an urgent need for the generation of a common platform on nanoparticle based delivery systems which can be modified easily to deliver different types of nucleic acids.

Sl.No	Product name and company	Nanoparticle based delivery system and	Indication	Delivery route	Reference
	name	Pharmaceutical ingredient			
1	Abelcet (Enzon ,USA)	Delivery system: Lipid complex	Fungal infections	Injection (Intravenous	221
		Ingredient: Amphotericin B		route)	
2	AmBisome (Gilead Science,	Delivery system: Liposome	Fungal and protozoal	Injection (Intravenous	222
	Japan)	Ingredient: Amphotericin B	infections	route)	
3	DaunoXome (Gilead Science,	Delivery system: Liposome	Kaposi sarcoma	Injection (Intravenous	223
	Japan)	Ingredient: Daunorubicin		route)	
4	Doxil/Caelyx (Ortho Biotech, USA	Delivery system: Liposome	Cancer, Kaposi	Injection (Intravenous	224
	and Schering-Plough,USA)	Ingredient: Doxorubicin	sarcoma	route)	
5	DepoCyt (SkyePharma, UK)	Delivery system: Liposome	Cancer	Injection (Intravenous	225
		Ingredient: cytarabine		route)	
6	Epaxal Berna (Berna Biotech,	Delivery system: virosome	Hepatitis A	Injection (Intravenous	226,227
	Switzerland)	Ingredient: Hepatitis A Vaccine		route)	
7	Visudyne (QLT Canada and	Delivery system: Liposome	Age-related macular	Injection (Intravenous	228
	Novartis AG, Switzerland)	Ingredient: Verteporfin	degeneration	route)	
8	Neulasta (Amgen, USA)	Delivery system: Polyethylene glycol (PEG)	neutropenia	Injection (Intravenous	229
		Ingredient: Granulocyte colony-stimulating		or subcutaneous route)	
0		factor (GCSF)	The second	T	220 221
9	Pegasys (Nektar, USA and	Delivery system: Polyethylene glycol (PEG)	Hepatitis C	Injection (Intravenous	230, 231
10	Hoffmann-La Roche Switzerland)	Ingredient: interferon-α 2a	II. CC	or subcutaneous route)	222
10	PEG-Intron	Delivery system: Polyetnylene glycol (PEG)	Hepatitis C	Injection (Intravenous	232
10		Ingredient: Interferon-a 26	CI : 1:1	or subcutaneous route)	222
10	Renagel (Genzyme, USA)	Delivery system: Crosslinked	Chronic kidney	Oral delivery	233
		poly(allylamine) resin	disease		
11	Trigger (Abbett Laboratorian USA)	Delivery system: Nene erystelling	Linid regulation	Oral daliyarry	224
11	Theor (Abbout Laboratories, USA)	Ingredient: fenofibrate	Lipiù regulation	Of all delivery	234
12	Abravane (Abravis BioScience	Delivery system: Albumin Nanonarticles	Cancer	Injection	235
12	USA and AstraZeneca UK)	Ingredient: paclitaxel	Cancer	(Intravenous route)	233
13	Copaxone (TEVA	Delivery system: L-Glutamic acid L-	Multiple sclerosis	Injection	236
	Pharmaceuticals USA)	alanine L-lysine and L-tyrosine copolymer	intuitiple seletosis	(Intravenous route)	200
	- manueculculo, 3511)	Ingredient: Glatiramer Acetate		(initia veneus route)	
14	Estrasorb (NovavaxInc, USA)	Delivery system: micellar nanoparticle	Menopausal therapy	Topical	237.238
		Ingredient: estradiol emulsion	· ····································		

Table 1. Approved drugs with nanoparticle-based delivery system which are commercially available

#### 7.9. Delivery system coupling to implants

Presently, various implant devices have been prepared which are attached to smart drug delivery systems. Examples of implant devices are biosensors, pacemakers and stents (211). Several intra-ocular devices have been prepared for the delivery of ocular drugs (212). The coupling of drug delivery to sensors has been used for the treatment of diabetes (213) and also to measure oxygen pressure (214). Several scientists are working in this field to develop engineered nanoparticles for the development of the delivery systems coupling to implants.

#### 8. COMMERCIAL MARKET

A huge progress has been found in the past two decades for commercially available nanoparticle-mediated therapeutic products. A survey has been conducted by the European Science and Technology Observatory which reported that over 150 companies are developing nanoparticle based therapeutics. Several therapeutic products in this line have been approved for clinical use and with total sales value is reported to be more than \$5.4 billion. Many products have been approved in the past 20 years (Table 1). In 1995, the nanoscale delivery system called "Doxil" was the first approved drug by the US-FDA for the treatment of AIDS associated with Kaposi's sarcoma (215). Simultaneously, AmBisome (amphotericin B liposomes), DaunoXome (daunorubicin liposomes), DepoCyt (cytarabine liposomes), Visudyne (verteporfin liposomes), etc have been approved and marketed (216). Therapeutics like Doxorubicin, Daunomycin, Docetaxel, Efavirenz and Chloroquine phosphate with nanoparticle

mediated delivery system (Table 2) are in Phase-I/II/III clinical trial. These products have opportunity to be approved in the near future.

# 9. TOXICOLOGICAL EFFECTS OF NANOPARTICLE MEDIATED DRUG DELIVERY

Safety and toxicological issues are the most important issues for a drug delivery system. Safety is an obvious concern for the fast growth of nanoparticles mediated drug delivery. Different nanoparticle based delivery systems are being developed for pharmaceutical ingredients deliveries should be examined properly from the point of toxicity. Therefore, study design related to toxicity testing is required. It has been noted that the use of nanoparticles as drug transporter may decrease the toxicity of the incorporated drug. However, toxicity of the "vacant" non-drug loaded particles should be evaluated properly (217).

Some studies of nanoparticle mediated drug delivery related to toxicological effects *in vitro* model have been performed (218). Conversely, it is found that the decrease in size due to the nanocarrier can cause variation in the physicochemical and structural properties of produced nanoparticles that can be accountable for numerous material interactions that may produce toxic effects (219). However, there is a huge gap among research exploration on toxicology and nanoscaled pharmaceutical ingredient delivery (220) and proper extensive research should be initiated to fill the gap.

Table 2. Nanoparticle-mediated drugs which are in chinical tria									
Sl.No	Product and company name	Nanoparticle based delivery system and Pharmaceutical ingredient	Clinical trial status	Indication	Delivery route	Reference			
1	L-Annamycin(Callisto Pharma, USA)	Delivery system: LiposomeIngredient: annamycin	Phase II	Acute lymphocytic leukemia,acute myeloid	Injection (Intravenous route)	239			
2	SLIT Cisplatin(Transave, Inc, USA)	Delivery system: LiposomeIngredient: cisplatin	Phase I	Progressive osteogenicsarcoma metastatic tothe lung	Pulmonary delivery	240			
3	SP1049C(Supratek Pharma, Canada)	Delivery system: Pluronic block-copolymerIngredient: doxorubicin	Phase II	Esophageal carcinoma	Injection (Intravenous route)	241			
4	CT-2106(Cell Therapeutics, Inc.,USA)	Delivery system: Polyglutamate- nanoparticleIngredient: camptothecin	Phase II	Colorectal and ovariancancers	Injection (Intravenous route)	242			
5	Transdrug(BioAlliance Pharma, Paris)	Delivery system: Poly(iso- hexyl-cyanoacrylate)Ingredient: doxorubicin	Phase II	Hepatocellular carcinoma	Injection (Intra-arteria route)	243			
6	BioVant(BioSante Pharma,USA)	Delivery system: Calcium phosphate nanoparticleIngredient: vaccine adjuvant	Phase I	Vaccine adjuvant	Injection (subcutaneous route)	244			
7	NB-001(NanoBio, USA)	Delivery system: NanoemulsionIngredient: NB- 001	Phase II	Herpes labialis	Topical	245			
8	AI-850(Acusphere Inc.USA)	Delivery system: nanoparticles in porous, hydrophilic matrixIngredient: Paclitaxel	Phase I	Solid tumors	Injection (Intravenous route)	246,247			
9	Basulin(Flamel Technologies, France)	Delivery system: L-Leucine, L- glutamate copolymer,Ingredient: insulin	Phase II	Type I diabetes	Injection (subcutaneous route)	248			
10	VivaGel(Starpharma,UK)	Delivery system: Poly-L-lysine dendrimerIngredient: SPL7013	Phase II	Antimicrobial protectionfrom genital herpesand HIV infection	Topical	249			
11	Panzem NCD(Elan, USA)	Delivery system: Nano- crystalIngredient: 2- methoxyestradiol	Phase II	Several type cancers	Oral	250			
12	ProLindac(AccessPharma, USA)	Delivery system: HPMA copolymerIngredient: DACH platinate	Phase II	Ovarian cancers	Injection (Intravenous route)	251			
13	CYT-6091 (Aurimmune) (CytoImmune Science, USA)	Delivery system: PEGylated colloidal gold nanoprticle Ingredient: TNF alpha	Phase II	Solid tumar	Injection (Intravenous route)	252			

 Table 2. Nanoparticle-mediated drugs which are in clinical trial

#### **10. CONCLUSION**

Nanotechnology has been demonstrated to be exceptionally significant for future medicine. Several nanoparticle-based therapeutic and diagnostic agents have been developed for the treatment of cancer, HIV related Kaposi's sarcoma, diabetes, pain, asthma, allergy, hepatitis, hypertension, influenza etc. Currently approved nanoparticle mediated drug carrier systems can reach extended circulation time, little immunogenicity, superior biocompatibility, selective targeting, and the competent penetration of barriers in human body such as BBB as well as vascular endothelium and helps self-determining drug discharge. Drugs incorporating nanocarriers are available in the market have shown reduced toxicity improving the therapeutic index of the drugs. In the future, there is a possibility that the next generation of nanoparticle mediated delivery systems with drugs like antibodies, peptides, etc may also improve drug efficacy or reduce drug toxicities.

## **11. REFERENCES**

1. AT Florence: New drug delivery systems. *Chem. & Industry* 24, 1000-1004 (1993)

2. R Langer: New methods of drug delivery. *Science* 249, 1527-1533 (1990)

3. RK Verma, S Garg: Current status *of* drug delivery technologies and future directions. *Pharma Techn* 25, 1-14 (2001)

4. Advanced drug delivery systems: technologies and global markets. http://www.bccresearch.com/report/advanced-drug-delivery-systems-phm006h.html.

5. KS Soppimath, TM Aminabhavi, AR Kulkarni, WE Rudzinski: Biodegradable polymeric nanoparticles as drug delivery devices. *J Control Release* 70, 1-20 (2001)

6. VJ Mohanraj, Y Chen: Nanoparticles - a review. *Trop J Pharm Res* 5, 561-573 (2006)

7. A Vila, A Sanchez, M Tobio, P Calvo, MJ Alonso: Design of biodegradable particles for protein delivery. *J Control Rel* 78, 15-24 (2002)

8. L Mu, SS Feng: A novel controlled release formulation for the anticancer drug paclitaxel (Taxol(R)): PLGA nanoparticles containing vitamin E TPGS. *J Control Release* 86, 33-48(2003) 9. M Aprahamian, C Michel, W Humbert, JP Devissaguet, C Damg: Transmucosal passage of polyalkylcyanoacrylate nanocapsules as a new drug carrier in the small intestine. *Biol Cell* 61, 69–76 (1987)

10. ML Hans, AM Lowman: Biodegradable nanoparticles for drug delivery and targeting. *Curr Opinion Solid State Materials Sci* 6, 319–327 (2002)

11. J Kreuter: Evaluation of nanoparticles as drug-delivery systems. *Preparation methods, Pharm Acta Helv* 58, 196-209 (1983)

12. VJ Mohanraj, Y Chen, Nanoparticles – A review. *Trop J Pharm Res* 5, 561-573 (2006)

13. F Kratz, I Fichtner, U Beyer, P Schumacher, T Roth, HH Fiebig, C Unger: Antitumor activity of acid labile transferrin and albumin. doxorubicin conjugates in vitro and in vivo human tumor xenograft models. *Eur J Cancer* 33, S175 (1997)

14. AO Elzoghby, WM Samy, NA Elgindy: Albumin-based nanoparticles as potential controlled release drug delivery systems. *J Control Release* 157, 168-82 (2011)

15. SS Chakravarthi, DH Robinson: Biodegradable Nanoparticles, in *Pharmaceutical Manufacturing Handbook: Production and Processes*. John Wiley. pp. 535–564 (2007)

16. M Jahanshahi, Z Babaei: Protein nanoparticle: A unique system as drug delivery vehicles. *African Journal of Biotechnology* 7, 4926-4934 (2008)

17. Y Takakura, T Fujita, M Hashida, H Sezaki: Diposition characteristics of macromolecules in tumir-bearing mice. *Pharm Res* 7, 339-346(1990)

18. S Sebak, M Mirzaei, M Malhotra, A Kulamarva, S Prakash: Human serum albumin nanoparticles as an efficient noscapine drug delivery system for potential use in breast cancer: preparation and in vitro analysis. *Int J Nanomedicine* 5, 525-32 (2010)

19. C Coester, P Nayyar, J Samuel: In vitro uptake of gelatin nanoparticles by murine dendritic cells and their intracellular localization. *Eur. J. Pharmaceut. Biopharmaceut* 62, 306-314 (2006)

20. JJ Marty, RC Oppenheim, P Speiser: Nanoparticles - a new colloidal drug delivery system. *Pharm Acta Helv* 53, 17-23(1978)

21. M Jahanshahi, MH Sanati, S Hajizadeh, Z Babaei: Gelatin nanoparticles fabrication and optimization of the particle size. *Physica status solidi A* 205, 2898– 902(2008)

22. Z Babaei, M Jahanshahi & M.H. Sanati: Fabrication and evaluation of gelatine nanoparticles for delivering of

anti - cancer drug. Int J Nanosci Nanotech 4, 23-29 (2008)

23. SH Azarmi, Y Huang, H Chen, S McQuarrie, D Abrams, W Roa, WH Finlay, GG Miller, & R Lobenberg: Optimization of a two-step desolvation method for preparing gelatin nanoparticles and cell uptake studies in 143B osteosarcoma cancer cells. *J Pharm Pharmaceut Sci* 9, 124-132 (2006)

24. C Weber, C Coester, J Kreuter, K Langer: Desolvation process and surface characterisation of protein nanoparticles. *Int J Pharm* 194, 91-102 (2000)

25. EJ Lee, SA Khan, JK Park, KH Lim: Studies on the characteristics of drug-loaded gelatin nanoparticles prepared by nanoprecipitation. Bioprocess *Biosyst Eng* 35, 297-307 (2011)

26. YZ Zhao, X Li, CT Lu, YY Xu, HF Lv, DD Dai, L Zhang, CZ Sun, W Yang, XK Li, YP Zhao, HX Fu, L Cai, M Lin, LJ Chen, M Zhang: Experiment on the feasibility of using modified gelatin nanoparticles as insulin pulmonary administration system for diabetes therapy. *Acta Diabetol* 49, 315-25 (2011)

27. ZG Konat, L Contreras-Ruiz, JE Parraga, A Lopez-Garcia, R Romero Bello, Y Diebold, B Seijo, A Sanchez: Expression of MUC5AC in ocular surface epithelial cells using cationized gelatin nanoparticles. *Mol Pharm* 8, 1783-8 (2011)

28. B Gaihre, MS Khil, HY Kim: In vitro anticancer activity of doxorubicin-loaded gelatin-coated magnetic iron oxide nanoparticles. *J Microencapsul* 28, 286-93 (2011)

29. A Saxena, K Sachin, HB Bohidar, AK Verma: Effect of molecular weight heterogeneity on drug encapsulation efficiency of gelatin nano-particles. *Colloids and Surfaces B: Biointerfaces*, 45, 42-48 (2005)

30. AM Orecchioni, C Duclairoir, JM Irache, E Nakache: Plant Protein-based Nanoparticles, Nanotechnologies for the Life Sciences. Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co. (2007)

31. I Ezpeleta, JM Irache, S Stainmesse, C Chabenat, Y Popineau, AM Orecchionic: Preparation of ulex europaeus lectin-gliadin nanoparticles conjugates and their interaction with gastrointestinalmucus. *Int J Pharm* 191, 25-32 (1999)

32. MA Arangoa, MA Campanero, MJ Renedo, G Ponchel, JM Irache: Gliadin nanoparticles as carriers for the oral administration of lipophilic drugs: Relationships between bioadhesion and pharmacokinetics. *Pharm Res* 18, 1521-1527 (2001)

33. H Kajal, A Misra: Preparation of tetanus toxoid and ovalbumin loaded gliadin nanoparticles for oral immunization. *J Biomed Nanotechnol* 7, 211-2 (2011)

34. T Mirshahi, JM Irache, C Nicolas, M Mirshahi, JP Faure, J Gueguen, C Hecquet, AM Orecchioni: Adaptive immune responses of legumin nanoparticles. J. Drug Target 10, 625-31 (2002)

35. JM Irache, L Bergougnoux, I Ezpeleta, J Gueguen, AM Orecchioni: Optimization and in vitro stability of legumin nanoparticles obtained by a coacervation method, International *Journal of Pharmaceutics* 126, 103-109 (1995)

36. F Shahidi, J Synowiecki: Isolation and characterization of nutrients and value-added products from snow crab (Chionoecetes opilio) and shrimp (Pandalus borealis) processing discards. J. Agricultural Food Chem. 39, 1527– 1532 (1991)

37. K Bowman, KW Leong: Chitosan nanoparticles for oral drug and gene delivery. *Int J Nanomedicine* 1, 117–128(2006)

38. R Fernandez-Urrusuno, P Calvo, C Remunan-Lopez, JL Vila Jato, MJ Alonso: Enhancement of nasal absorption of insulin using chitosan nanoparticle. *Pharm Res* 16, 1576–81 (1999)

39. Vandana, M. & S.K. Sahoo: Optimization of physicochemical parameters influencing the fabrication of chitosan nanoparticles. *Nanomedicine* 4: 773-85 (2009)

40. Z Ma, LY Lim: Uptake of chitosan and associated insulin in Caco-2 cell monolayers: a comparison between chitosan molecules and chitosan nanoparticles. *Pharm Res* 20, 1812–19 (2003)

41. Z Ma, TM Lim, LY Lim: Pharmacological activity of peroral chitosan-insulin nanoparticles in diabetic rats. *Int J Pharm* 293, 271–80 (2005)

42. M Bivas-Benita, M Laloup, S Versteyhe: Generation of Toxoplasma gondii GRA1 protein and DNA vaccine loaded chitosan particles: preparation, characterization, and preliminary in vivo studies. *Int J Pharm* 266, 17–27 (2003)

43. Z Liu, Y Jiao, Y Wang, C Zhou, Z Zhang: Polysaccharides-based nanoparticles as drug delivery systems. *Adv Drug Deliv Rev*, 60 1650-62 (2008)

44. E Okon, D Pouliquen, P Okon, ZV Kovaleva, TP Stepanova, SG Lavit, BN Kudryavtsev, P Jallet: Biodegradation of magnetite dextran nanoparticles in the rat. A histologic and biophysical study. Lab. Invest., 71, 895-903 (1994)

45. A Aumelas, A Serrero, A Durand, E Dellacherie, M Leonard: Nanoparticles of hydrophobically modified dextrans as potential drug carrier systems. *Colloids Surf. B Biointerfaces* 59, 74-80 (2007)

46. S Mitra, U Gaur, PC Ghosh, AN Maitra: Tumour targeted delivery of encapsulated dextran-doxorubicin

conjugate using chitosan nanoparticles as carrier. J Control Release. 74, 317-23(2001)

47. KB Chalasani, GJ Russell-Jones, AK Jain, PV Diwan, SK Jain: Effective oral delivery of insulin in animal models using vitamin B12-coated dextran nanoparticles. *J Control Release*, 122,141-50 (2007)

48. U Gaur, SK Sahoo, TK De, PC Ghosh, A Maitra, PK Ghosh: Biodistribution of fluoresceinated dextran using novel nanoparticles evading reticuloendothelial system. *Int J Pharm* 202, 1-10 (2000)

49. YS Lin, Y Okamoto, S Minami: Effects of chitosancarboxymethyl dextran nanoparticles on cell proliferation and on serum cytokine regulation. *J Biomed Nanotechnol* 6, 247-53 (2010)

50. A Buleon, P Colonna, V Planchot, S Ball: Starch granules: structure and biosynthesis. *Int J Biol Macromol* 23, 85–112 (1998)

51. RL Whistler, EF Paschall: Starch: Chemistry and Technology; Academic Press: New York, (1965)

52. Y Xu, W Ding, J Liu, Y Li, Q Gu, Y Li, S Shao, JF Kennedy: Preparation and characterization of organic-soluble acetylated starch nanocrystals. *Carbohydrate Polymers* 80, 1078-1084 (2010)

53. R Singh, Jr JW Lillard: Nanoparticle-based targeted drug delivery. *Exp Mol Pathol* 86, 215-23 (2009)

54. D Liu, Q Wu, H Chen, PR Chang: Transitional properties of starch colloid with particle size reduction from micro-to nanometer. *J Colloid Interface Sci* 339, 117–124 (2009)

55. CK Simi, T Emilia-Abraham: Hydrophobic grafted and cross-linked starch nanoparticles for drug delivery. *Bioprocess Biosyst Eng* 30, 173-80 (2007)

56. SY Xiao, CY Tong, XM Liu: Preparation of folateconjugated starch nanoparticles and its application to tumortargeted drug delivery vector *Chin Sci Bull* 51, 1693–1697 (2006)

57. MJ Santander-Ortega, T Stauner, B Loretz, JL Ortega-Vinuesa, D Bastos-Gonzalez, G Wenz, UF Schaefer, CM Lehr: Nanoparticles made from novel starch derivatives for transdermal drug delivery. *J Control Release* 141, 85-92 (2010)

58. AJ Cole, AE David, J Wang, CJ Galban, VC Yang: Magnetic brain tumor targeting and biodistribution of longcirculating PEG-modified, cross-linked starch-coated iron oxide nanoparticles. *Biomaterials* 32, 6291-301 (2011)

59. PB Malafaya, F Stappers, RL Reis: Starch-based microspheres produced by emulsion crosslinking with a potential media dependent responsive behavior to be used as drug delivery carriers. *J Mater Sci Mater Med* 17, 371-7 (2006)

60. GP van Balen, CM Martinet, G Caron: Liposome/water lipophilicity: methods, information content, and pharmaceutical applications. *Med Res Rev* 24, 299–324 (2004)

61. SM Moghimi, AC Hunter, JC Murray: Nanomedicine: current status and future prospects. *FASEB J* 19, 311–330 (2005)

62. N Sanvicens, MP Marco: Multifunctional nanoparticles – properties and prospects for their use in human medicine. *Trends Biotechnol* 26, 425–433 (2008)

63. L Zhang, D Pornpattananangku, CM Hu, CM Huang: Development of nanoparticles for antimicrobial drug delivery. *Curr* Med Chem 17, 585–594(2010)

64. H Barani, M Montazer: A Review on Applications of liposomes in textile processing. *J Liposome Research* 18, 249-262(2008)

65. M Pons, J Estelrich: *Liposomes as an agrochemical tool: optimization of their production. Ind Crops Prod* 5, 203–208 (1996)

66. LA Meure, R Knott, NR Foster, F Dehghani: The depressurization of an expanded solution into aqueous media for the bulk production of liposomes. Langmuir 25, 326-337 (2009)

67. MR Mozafari, K Khosravi-Darani, GG Borazan, J Cui, A Pardakhty, S Yurdugul. Encapsulation of food ingredients using nanoliposome technology. International Journal of Food Properties, 11, 833-844 (2008)

68. L Zhang, FX Gu, JM Chan, AZ Wang, RS Langer, OC Farokhzad: Nanoparticles in medicine: therapeutic applications and developments. Clinical Pharmacology and Therapeutics 83, 761–69 (2008)

69. RA Auras, LT Lim, SEM Selke, H Tsuji: Poly lactic acid synthesis structures properties processing and applications, John Wiley and Sons Ltd, 528 (2010)

70. HJ Krause, A Schwarz, P Rohdewald: Polylactic acid nanoparticles, a colloidal drug delivery system for lipophilic drugs. *International J Pharmaceutics* 27, 145-155 (1985)

71. E Allemann, N Brasseur, O Benrezzak, J Rousseau, SV Kudrevich, RW Boyle, JC Leroux, R Gurny, JE Van Lier: PEG- coated poly (lactic acid) nanoparticles for the delivery of hexadecafluoro zinc phthalocyanine to EMT-6 mouse mammary tumours. *J Pharm Pharmacol* 47, 382-7(1995)

72. K Yang, Y Wen, C Wang: The study of cucurbitacin BE polylactic acid nanoparticles delivering cucurbitacin BE to metastasized cervical lymph nodes in mice with oral cancer. *Hua Xi Kou Qiang Yi Xue Za Zhi* 21, 477-80 (2003)

73. W Zou, C Liu, Z Chen, N Zhang (2009) Preparation and Characterization of Cationic PLA-PEG. Nanoparticles

for Delivery of Plasmid DNA. *Nanoscale Res Lett* 4, 982-992 (2009)

74. N Hadjichristidis, S Pispas, G Floudas: Block copolymers: synthetic strategies, physical properties, and applications – Wiley, (2003)

75. JA Opsteen, JJLM Cornelissen, JCM vanHest: Block copolymer vesicles. Pure Appl Chem 76, 1309–1319 (2004)

76. K Kita-Tokarczyk, J Grumelard, T Haefele, W Meier: Block copolymer vesicles, using concepts from polymer chemistry to mimic biomembranes. *Polymer* 46, 3540– 3563(2005)

77. P Nguyen: Amphiphilic linear-dendritic *block copolymer has developed* for drug *delivery*. Thesis (Ph.D.)-Massachusetts Institute of Technology, Dept. of Chemical Engineering (2007)

78. PM Nguyen, PT Hammond: Amphiphilic lineardendritic triblock copolymers composed of poly(amidoamine) and poly(propylene oxide) and their micellar-phase and encapsulation properties. *Langmuir* 22, 7825-32 (2006)

79. H Namazi, S Jafarirad: In vitro photo-controlled drug release system based on amphiphilic linear-dendritic diblock copolymers; self-assembly behavior and application as nanocarrier. *J Pharm Sci* 14, 162-80 (2011)

80. NV Rao, S Mane, A Kishore, J Das Sarma, R Shunmugam: Norbornene Derived doxorubicin copolymers as drug carriers with ph responsive hydrazone linker. *Biomacromolecules* 13, 221-30 (2012)

81. AL Lee, S Venkataraman, SB Sirat, S Gao, JL Hedrick, YY Yang: The use of cholesterol-containing biodegradable block copolymers to exploit hydrophobic interactions for the delivery of anticancer drugs. *Biomaterials* 33, 1921-8 (2012)

82. AR Vancha, S Govindaraju, KVL Parsa, M Jasti, M Gonzalez-Garcia, RP Ballestero: Use of polyethyleneimine polymer in cell culture as attachment factor and lipofection enhancer. *BMC Biotechnology* 4, 23 (2004)

83. C Rudolph, J Lausier, S Naundorf, RH Muller, J Rosenecker: In vivo gene delivery to the lung using polyethylenimine and fractured polyamidoamine dendrimers. *J Gene Medicine* 2, 269–78 (2000)

84. SM Moghimi, P Symonds, JC Murray, AC Hunter, G Debska, AA Szewczyk Two-stage poly(ethylenimine)mediated cytotoxicity: implications for gene transfer/therapy. *Molecular Therapy* 11, 990-995 (2005)

85. L Zhang, X Gao, K Men, B Wang, S Zhang, J Qiu, M Huang, M Gou, N Huang, Z Qian, X Zhao, Y Wei: Gene therapy for C- 26 colon cancer using heparin-polyethyleneimine nanoparticle-mediated survivin T34A. *Int J Nanomedicine* 6, 2419- 27 (2011)

86. YC Kuo, HW Yu: Polyethyleneimine/poly-(γ-glutamic acid)/poly (lactide-co-glycolide) nanoparticles for loading and releasing antiretroviral drug. *Colloids Surf B Biointerfaces* 88, 158-64(2011)

87. YC Kuo, HW Yu: Expression of ornithine decarboxylase during the transport of saquinavir across the blood-brain barrier using composite polymeric nanocarriers under an electromagnetic field. *Colloids Surf B Biointerfaces* 88, 627-34 (2011)

88. AC Hunter: Molecular hurdles in polyfectin design and mechanistic background to polycation induced cytotoxicity. *Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews* 58, 1523-1531 (2006)

89. I Hamrnikova, I Miksik, Z Deyl, V Kasicka: Binding of proline- and hydroxyproline-containing peptides and proteins to the capillary wall. *J. Chromatogr. A* 838, 167-177 (1999)

90. A Eckhardt, I Miksık, Z Deyl, J Charvatova: Separation of low-molecular mass peptides by capillary electrophoresis with the use of alkylamines as dynamic coating agents at low pH. *J. Chromatogr. A*, 1051, 111-117 (2004)

91. X Shi, W Lesniak, MT Islam, MC Muniz, LP Balogh, JJR Baker: Comprehensive characterization of surfacefunctionalized poly (amidoamine) dendrimers with acetamide, hydroxyl, and carboxyl groups. *Colloids Surf A Physicochem Eng Aspects* 272, 139–150 (2006)

92. G Navarro, C Tros de Ilarduya: Activated and nonactivated PAMAM dendrimers for gene delivery *in vitro* and *in vivo*. *Nanomedicine* 5, 287-97 (2009)

93. T Uehara, D Ishii, T Uemura, H Suzuki, T Kanei, K Takagi, M Takama, M Murakami, H Akizawa, Y Arano: Gamma- Glutamyl PAMAM dendrimer as versatile precursor for dendrimer-based targeting devices. *Bioconjug Chem* 21, 175-81 (2010)

94. RC van Duijvenbode, GJM Koper, MR Böhmer: Adsorption of poly (propylene imine) dendrimers on glass. An interplay between surface and particle properties. *Langmuir* 16, 7713-7719 (2000)

95. B Klajnert, D Appelhans, H Komber, N Morgner, S Schwarz, S Richter, B Brutschy, B Brutschy, M Ionov, AK Tonkikh, M Bryszewska, B Voit: The influence of densely organized maltose shells on the biological properties of poly (propylene imine) dendrimers: new effects dependent on hydrogen bonding. *Chemistry- A European J* 14, 7030–7041(2008)

96. R Scherrenberg, B Coussens, P van Vliet, G Edouard, J Brackman, E de Brabander: The molecular characteristics of poly (propyleneimine) dendrimers as studied with small-angle neutron scattering, viscosimetry, and molecular dynamics. *Macromolecules* 31, 456–461(1998)

97. Z Sideratou, D Tsiourvas, CM Paleos: Quaternized poly (propylene imine) dendrimers as novel pH-sensitive

controlled- release systems. *Langmuir* 16 1766-1769 (2000)

98. CZ Chen, NC Beck-Tan, P Dhurjati, TK van Dyk, RA LaRossa, SL Cooper: Quaternary ammonium functionalized poly (propylene imine) dendrimers as effective antimicrobials: structure-activity studies. *Biomacromolecules* 1,473-80(2000)

99. J van Duijvenbode, A Rajanayagam, G Koper, M Baars, B de Waal, E Meijer, M Borkovec: Synthesis and protonation behavior of carboxylate-functionalized poly (propyleneimine) dendrimers. *Macromolecules* 33, 46-52 (2000)

100. P Aston, S Boyd, C Brown, S Nepogodiev, E Meijer, H Peerling, J Stoddart: Synthesis of Glycodendrimers by Modification of Poly(propylene imine) Dendrimers. *Chem Eur J* 3, 974 (1997)

101. CM Paleos, D Tsiourvas, Z Sideratou, L Tziveleka: Acid- and salt-triggered multifunctional poly (propylene imine) dendrimer as a prospective drug delivery system, *Biomacromolecules* 5, 524-9 (2004)

102. E Murugan, G Vimala: Effective functionalization of multiwalled carbon nanotube with amphiphilic poly(propyleneimine) dendrimer carrying silver nanoparticles for better dispersability and antimicrobial activity. *J Colloid Interface Sci* 357, 354-65 (2011)

103. B Ziemba, A Janaszewska, K Ciepluch, M Krotewicz, WA Fogel, D Appelhans, B Voit, M Bryszewska, B Klajnert: *In vivo* toxicity of poly(propyleneimine) dendrimers. *J Biomed Mater Res A* 99, 261-8(2011)

104. R Qiao, PA Roberts, AS Mount, SJ Klaine, PC Ke: Translocation of C60 and its derivatives across a lipid bilayer. *Nano Letters* 7 614–619 (2007)

103. E Murugan, G Vimala: Effective functionalization of multiwalled carbon nanotube with amphiphilic poly (propyleneimine) dendrimer carrying silver nanoparticles for better dispersability and antimicrobial activity. *J Colloid Interface Sci* 357, 354- 65 (2011)

104. B Ziemba, A Janaszewska, K Ciepluch, M Krotewicz, WA Fogel, D Appelhans, B Voit, M Bryszewska, B Klajnert: *In vivo* toxicity of poly(propyleneimine) dendrimers. *J Biomed Mater Re A* 99, 261-8 (2011)

105. N Gonzalez Szwacki, A Sadrzadeh, B Yakobson: B80 Fullerene: An *ab initio* prediction of geometry, stability, and electronic structure. *Physical Review Letters* 98, 166804 (2007)

106. X Wang, Q Li, J Xie, Z Jin, J Wang, Y Li, K Jiang, S Fan: Fabrication of ultralong and electrically uniform single-walled carbon nanotubes on clean substrates. *Nano Letters* 9, 3137–3141 (2009)

107. TA Hilder, JM Hill: Modeling the loading and unloading of drugs into nanotubes. *Small* 5, 300-08 (2009)

108. NWS Kam, M O'Connell, JA Wisdom, H Dai: Carbon nanotubes as multifunctional biological transporters and near- infrared agents for selective cancer cell destruction. *PNAS* 102, 11600 (2005)

109. Z Liu, W Cai, L He, N Nakayama, K Chen, X Sun, X Chen, H Dai: In vivo biodistribution and highly efficient tumor targeting of carbon nanotubes in mice. *Nature Nanotechnology* 2, 47 (2007)

110. G Pastorin: Crucial functionalizations of carbon nanotubes for improved drug delivery: a valuable option? *Pharmaceutical Research* 26, 746-69 (2008)

111. H Dumortier, S Lacotte, G Pastorin, R Marega, W Wu, D Bonifazi, J Briand, M Prato, S Muller, A Bianco: Functionalized carbon nanotubes are non-cytotoxic and preserve the functionality of primary immune cells. *Nano Letters* 6, 1522 (2006)

112. M Jahanshahi: Re-design of downstream processing techniques for nanoparticulate bioproducts. *Iranian J Biotechnol* 2, 1-12 (2004)

113. J Kreuter: Nanoparticle-based drug delivery system. J. controlled release. 16, 169-176 (1991)

114. MP Desai, V Labhasetwar, E Walter, RJ Levy, GL Amidon: The mechanism of uptake of biodegradable microparticles in Caco-2 cells is size dependent. *Pharm Res* 14, 1568-1573 (1997)

115. W Zauner, NA Farrow, AM Haines: *In vitro* uptake of polystyrene microspheres: effect of particles size, cell line and cell density. *J Controlled Release* 71, 39-51 (2001)

116. KY Win, SS Feng: Effects of particle size and surface coating on cellular uptake of polymeric nanoparticles for oral delivery of anticancer drugs. *Biomaterials* 26, 2713-22 (2005)

117. HM Redhead, SS Davis, L Illum: Drug delivery in poly (lactide-co-glycolide) nanoparticles surface modified with poloxamer 407 and poloxamine 908: *in vitro* characterisation and in vivo evaluation. *J Control Release* 70, 353-363 (2001)

118. D Shenoy, W Fu, J Li, C Crasto, G Jones, C DiMarzio, S Sridhar, M. Amiji: Surface functionalization of gold nanoparticles using hetero-bifunctional poly (ethylene glycol) spacer for intracellular tracking and delivery. *Int J Nanomedicine* 1, 51–57 (2006)

119. J Panyam, WZ Zhou, S Prabha, SK Sahoo, V Labhasetwar: Rapid endo-lysosomal escape of poly(DL-lactide-co-glycolide) nanoparticles: implications for drug and gene delivery. *FASEB J* 16, 1217–26 (2002)

120. YN Konan, J Chevallier, R Gurny, E Allemann: Encapsulation of p-THPP into nanoparticles: cellular

uptake, subcellular localization and effect of serum on photodynamic activity. *Photochem Photobiol* 77, 638–44 (2003)

121. PR Lockman, JM Koziara, RJ Mumper, DD Allen: Nanoparticle surface charges alter blood-brain barrier integrity and permeability. *J Drug Target* 12, 635-41 (2004)

122. M Jahanshahi, Z Babaei: Protein nanoparticle: A unique system as drug delivery vehicles. *African Journal of Biotechnology* 7, 4926-4934 (2008)

123. T Harmin, P Speiser, J Kreuter A solid colloidal drug delivery system for the eye: encapsulation of pilocarpin in nanoparticles. *J Microencapsul* 3, 3-12 (1986)

124. MJ Alenso, C Losa, P Calvo, JL Vila-Jato: Approaches to improve the association of amikacin sulphate to poly- (cyanoacrylate) nanoparticles. *Int J Pharm* 68, 69–76 (1991)

125. M Ueda, A Iwara, J Kreuter: Influence of the preparation methods on the drying release behavior of loperamide-loaded nanoparticles. *J. Microencapsulation* 15, 361–372 (1998)

126. HS Yoo, JE Oh, KH Lee, TG Park: Biodegradable nanoparticles containing doxorubicin–PLGA conjugate for sustained release. *Pharm Res* 16, 1114–1118 (1999)

127. MA Egea, F Gamisani, J Valero, ME Garcia, ML Garcia: Entrapment of cisplatin into biodegradable polyalkylcyanoacrylate nanoparticles. *Farmaco* 49, 211–217 (1994)

128. K Chukwu, U Ishroder, P Sommerfeld, BA Sabel: Loading some sychopharmacologic agents onto poly (butylcyanoacrylate) nanoparticles-a means of targeting to the brain and improving therapeutic efficiency. *Proced Intern Symp Control Rel Bioact Mater* 26, 1148–1149 (1999)

129. Y Chen, RK McCulloch, BN Gray: Synthesis of albumin-dextran sulfate microspheres possessing favourable loading and release characteristics for the anti-cancer drug doxorubicin. *J Control Release* 31, 49-54 (1994)

130. Y Chen, VJ Mohanraj, JE Parkin: Chitosan-dextran sulfate nanoparticles for delivery of an antiangiogenesis peptide. *Letters in Peptide Science* 10, 621-627 (2003)

131. KS Soppimath, TM Aminabhavi, AR Kulkarni, WE Rudzinski: Biodegradable polymeric nanoparticles as drug delivery devices. *J Control Release* 70, 1–20 (2001)

132. M Jahanshahi, L Partida-Martinez, S Hajizadeh: Preparation and evaluation of polymer-coated adsorbents for the expanded bed recovery of protein products from particulate feedstocks, *J Chromatogr A* 1203, 13-20 (2008)

133. C Berkland, K Kim, DW Pack: PLG microsphere size controls drug release rate through several competing factors. *Pharm Res* 20, 1055-62 (2003)

134. SK Sahoo, V Labhasetwar: Nanotech approaches to drug delivery and imaging. *Drug Discov Today* 8, 1112-20 (2003)

135. D Citrin, T Scott, M Sproull, M Menard, PJ Tofilon, K Camphausen: *In vivo* tumor imaging using a near-infrared-labeled endostatin molecule. *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys* 58, 536-541 (2004)

136. L Juillerat-Jeanneret: The targeted delivery of cancer drugs across the blood-brain barrier: chemical modifications of drugs or drug-nanoparticles? *Drug Discov Today* 13, 1099-106 (2008)

137. PR Lockman, RJ Mumper, MA Khan, DD Allen: Nanoparticle technology for drug delivery across the blood brain barrier. *Drug Dev Ind Pharm* 28, 1–13 (2002)

138. C Chakraborty, B Sarkar, CH Hsu, ZH Wen, CS Lin, PC Shieh: Future prospects of nanoparticles on brain targeted drug delivery. *J. Neurooncol.* 93, 285-6 (2009)

139. W Geldenhuys, T Mbimba, T Bui, K Harrison, V Sutariya: Brain-targeted delivery of paclitaxel using glutathione-coated nanoparticles for brain cancers. *J Drug Target* 19, 837-45 (2011)

140. J Guo, X Gao, L Su, H Xia, G Gu, Z Pang, X Jiang, L Yao, J Chen, H Chen: Aptamer-functionalized PEG-PLGA nanoparticles for enhanced anti-glioma drug delivery. *Biomaterials*. 32, 8010-20 (2011)

141. P Calvo, B Gouritin, I Brigger, C Lasmezas, J Deslys, A Williams, JP Andreux, D Dormont, P Couvreur: PEGylated polycyanoacrylate nanoparticles as vector for drug delivery in prion diseases. *J Neurosci Methods* 111, 151-5 (2001)

142. D Brambilla R Verpillot, L De Kimpe, M Taverna, B Le Droumaguet, J Nicolas, M Canovi, M Gobbi, M Salmona, V Nicolas, W Scheper, P Couvreur, K Andrieux: Nanoparticles against Alzheimer's disease: PEG-PACA nanoparticles are able to link the  $\alpha\beta$ -peptide and influence its aggregation kinetic. *J Control Release* 148, e112-3 (2010)

143. RT Carroll, D Bhatia, W Geldenhuys, R Bhatia, N Miladore, A Bishayee, V Sutariya: Brain-targeted delivery of Tempol- loaded nanoparticles for neurological disorders. *J Drug Target* 18, 665-74 (2010)

144. GNM Khan: New developments in insulin delivery. Drug Dev Ind Pharm 29, 253-65 (2003)

145. MM Bailey, CJ Berkland: Nanoparticle formulations in pulmonary drug delivery. *Med Res Rev* 29, 196-212 (2009)

146. P Vogel, VR Rivera, ML Pitt, MA Poli: Comparison of the pulmonary distribution and efficacy of antibodies given to mice by intratracheal instillation or aerosol inhalation. *Lab Anim Sci* 46, 516-23 (1996)

147. M Beck-Broichsitter, P Kleimann, T Gessler, W Seeger, T Kissel, T Schmehl: Nebulization performance of biodegradable sildenafil-loaded nanoparticles using the Aeroneb(<sup>®</sup>) Pro: Formulation aspects and nanoparticle stability to nebulization. *Int J Pharm* 422, 398-408 (2012)

148. JC Bonner: Carbon nanotubes as delivery systems for respiratory disease: do the dangers outweigh the potential benefits? *Expert Rev Respir Med* 5, 779-87 (2011)

149. M Beck-Broichsitter, C Schweiger, T Schmehl, T Gessler, W Seeger, T Kissel: Characterization of novel spraydried polymeric particles for controlled pulmonary drug delivery. *J Control Release* 158, 329-35 (2012)

150. R Pandey, A Sharma, A Zahoor, S Sharma, GK Khuller, B Prasad: Poly (DL-lactide-co-glycolide) nanoparticle-based inhalable sustained drug delivery system for experimental tuberculosis. *J Antimicrob Chemother* 52, 981-6 (2003)

151. CL Bourlais, L Acar, H Zia, PA Sado, T Needham, R Leverge: Ophthalmic drug delivery systems--recent advances. *Prog Retin Eye Res* 17, 33-58 (1998)

152. AK Gupta, S Madan, DK Majumdar, A Maitra: Ketorolac entrapped in polymeric micelles: Preparation, characterisation and ocular anti- inflammatory studies. *Int J Pharm* 209, 1-14(2000)

153. C Bucolo, A Maltese, F Drago: When nanotechnology meets the ocular surface. *Expert Rev Ophthalmol* 3, 325–332 (2008)

154. SK Sahoo, F Dilnawaz, S Krishnakumar: *Nanotechnology* in *ocular drug delivery*. *Drug Discov Today* 13, 144-51(2008)

155. HO Ammar, HA Salama, M Ghorab, AA Mahmoud: Nanoemulsion as a potential ophthalmic delivery system for dorzolamide hydrochloride. *AAPS Pharm Sci Tech* 10, 808-19 (2009)

156. R Pignatello, C Bucolo, G Spedalieri A Maltese, G Puglisi: Flurbiprofen-loaded acrylate polymer nanosuspensions for ophthalmic application. *Biomaterials* 23, 3247–3255 (2002)

157. C Bucolo, A Maltese, G Puglisi, R Pignatello: Enhanced ocular anti-inflammatory activity of ibuprofen carried by an Eudragit RS 1001 nanoparticle suspension. *Ophthalmic Res* 34, 319–323 (2002)

158. R Pignatello, C Bucolo, P Ferrara, A Maltese, A Puleo, G Puglisi: Eudragit RS100 nanosuspensions for the ophthalmic controlled delivery of ibuprofen. Eur J Pharm Sci 16, 53–61 (2002)

159. R Pignatello, C Bucolo, G Puglisi: Ocular tolerability of Eudragit RS 100 and RL 100 nanosuspensions as carrier for ophthalmic controlled delivery. *J Pharm Sci* 91, 2636–2641 (2002)

160. A Danion, H Brochu, Y Martin, P Vermette: Fabrication and characterization of contact lenses bearing surface-immobilized layers of intact liposomes. *J Biomed Mater Res A* 82, 41–51 (2007)

161. A Danion, I Arsenault, P Vermette: Antibacterial activity of contact lenses bearing surface-immobilized layers of intact liposomes loaded with levofloxacin. *J Pharm Sci* 96, 2350–2363 (2007)

162. R Pandey, Z Ahmad, S Sharma, GK Khuller: Nanoencapsulation of azole antifungals: Potential applications to improve oral drug delivery. *International Journal of Pharmaceutics*, 301, 268-276 (2005)

163. C Damge, C Michel, M Aprahamian, P Couvreur, JP Devissaguet: Nanocapsules as carriers for oral peptide delivery. *J. Controlled Release* 13, 233-239 (1990)

164. Cetin, M., M.S. Aktas, I. Vural & M.Ozturk: Salmon calcitonin-loaded Eudragit® and Eudragit®-PLGA nanoparticles: *in vitro* and *in vivo* evaluation. *J Microencapsul* 29,156-66 (2012)

165. J Dai, T Nagai, X Wang, T Zhang, M Meng, Q Zhang: pH-sensitive nanoparticles for improving the oral bioavailability of cyclosporine A. *International J Pharmaceutics* 280, 229-240 (2004)

166. A Schroeter, T Engelbrecht, RH Neubert, AS Goebel: New nanosized technologies for dermal and transdermal drug delivery. A review. *J Biomed Nanotechnol* 6, 511-28 (2010)

167. G Cev: Transfersomes, liposomes and other lipid suspensions on the skin: permeation enhancement, vesicle penetration, and transdermal drug delivery. *Crit Rev Ther Drug Career Syst* 13, 257–388 (1996)

168. IF Uchegbua, SP Vyas: Non-ionic surfactant based vesicles (niosomes) in drug delivery. *International J Pharmaceutics* 172, 33-70 (1998)

169. TG Mason, JN Wilking, K Meleson, CB Chang, SM Graves: Nanoemulsions: formation, structure, and physical properties. *J Phys Condens Matter* 18, R635–R666 (2006)

170. O Sonneville-Aubrun, JT Simonnet, FL Alloret: Nanoemulsions: a new vehicle for skincare products. *Advances in Colloid and Interface Science* 108/109, 145– 149 (2004)

171. T Tadros, P Izquierdo, J Esquena, C Solans: Formation and stability of nanoemulsions. *Adv Colloid Interface Sci* 109, 303– 318 (2004) 172. A Dingler, S Gohla: Production of solid lipid nanoparticles (SLN): scaling up feasibilities. *Microencapsulation* 19, 11-6 (2002)

173. RH Muller, RD Petersen, A Hommoss, J Pardeike: Nanostructured lipid carriers (NLC) in cosmetic dermal products. *Adv Drug Deliv Rev* 59, 522–530 (2007)

174. J Pardeike, A Hommoss, RH Muller: Lipid nanoparticles (SLN, NLC) in cosmetic and pharmaceutical dermal products. *International J Pharmaceutics* 366, 170–184 (2009)

175. MM Abdel-Mottaleb, D Neumann, A Lamprecht: Lipid nanocapsules for dermal application: a comparative study of lipid- based versus polymer-based nanocarriers. *Eur J Pharm Biopharm* 79, 36-42 (2011)

176. M Gupta, S Tiwari, SP Vyas: Influence of various lipid core on characteristics of SLNs designed for topical delivery of fluconazole against cutaneous candidiasis. *Pharm Dev Technol* **1** (2011)

177. H Tokumitsu, J Hiratsuka, Y Sakurai, T Kobayashi, H Ichikawa, Y Fukumori: Gadolinium neutron-capture therapy using novel gadopentetic acid-chitosan complex nanoparticles: in vivo growth suppression of experimental melanoma solid tumor. *Cancer Lett.* 150, 177–182 (2000)

178. SR Jameela, PG Latha, A Subramoniam, A Jayakrishnan: Antitumor activity of mitoxantrone-loaded chitosan microspheres against Ehrlich ascites carcinoma. *J Pharm Pharmacol* 48, 685–688 (1996)

179. S Mitra, U Gaur, PC Ghosh, AN Maitra: Tumor targeted delivery of encapsulated dextran– doxorubicin conjugate using chitosan nanoparticles as carrier. *J Control Release* 74, 317–323 (2001)

180. KA Janes, MP Fresneau, A Marazuela, A Fabra, MJ Alonso: Chitosan nanoparticles as delivery systems for doxorubicin. *J Control Release* 73, 255–267 (2001)

181. L Li, Y Guan, H Liu, N Hao, T Liu, X Meng, C Fu, Y Li, Q Qu, Y Zhang, S Ji, L Chen, D Chen, F Tang: Silica nanorattle- doxorubicin-anchored mesenchymal stem cells for tumor-tropic therapy. *ACS Nano* 5, 7462-70 (2011)

182. AM Mansour, J Drevs, N Esser, FM Hamada, OA Badary, C Unger, I Fichtner, F Kratz: A new approach for the treatment of malignant melanoma: enhanced antitumor efficacy of an albumin-binding doxorubicin prodrug that is cleaved by matrix metalloproteinase 2. *Cancer Res* 63, 4062–4066 (2003)

183. PA Vasey, SB Kaye, R Morrison, C Twelves, P Wilson, R Duncan, AH Thomson, LS Murray, TE Hilditch, T Murray, S Burtles, D Fraier, E Frigerio, J Cassidy: Phase I clinical and pharmacokinetic study of PK1 N-(2-hydroxypropyl) methacrylamide copolymer doxorubicin: first member of a new class of chemotherapeutic agents-

drug-polymer conjugates. Clin Cancer Res. 5, 83-94 (1999)

184. GF Paciotti, L Myer, D Weinreich, D Goia, N Pavel, RE McLaughlin, L Tamarkin: Colloidal gold: a novel nanoparticle vector for tumor directed drug delivery. *Drug Deliv* 11, 169-83 (2004)

185. J Wang, M Sui, W Fan: Nanoparticles for tumor targeted therapies and their p harmacokinetics. *Curr Drug Metab* 11, 129- 41 (2010)

186. MM Gottesman, T Fojo, SE Bates: Multidrug resistance in cancer: role of ATP-dependent transporters. *Nat Rev Cancer* 2, 48–58 (2002)

187. HL Wong, R Bendayan, AM Rauth, HY Xue, K Babakhanian, XY Wu: A mechanistic study of enhanced doxorubicin uptake and retention in multidrug resistant breast cancer cells using a polymer-lipid hybrid nanoparticle system. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* 317, 1372–81 (2006)

188. A Mahapatro, DK Singh: Biodegradable nanoparticles are excellent vehicle for site directed in-vivo delivery of drugs and vaccines. *Journal of Nanobiotechnology* 9, 55 (2011)

189. A Shahiwala, TK Vyas, MM Amiji: Nanocarriers for systemic and mucosal vaccine delivery. *Recent Pat Drug Deliv Formul* 1, 1-9 N (2007)

190. N Csaba, M Garcia-Fuentes, MJ Alonso: Nanoparticles for nasal vaccination. *Adv Drug Deliv Rev* 61, 140-57 (2009)

191. N Mishra, S Tiwari, B Vaidya, GP Agrawal, SP Vyas: Lectin anchored PLGA nanoparticles for oral mucosal immunization against hepatitis B. *J Drug Target* 19, 67-78 (2011)

192. Y Krishnamachari, SM Geary, CD Lemke, AK Salem: Nanoparticle delivery systems in cancer vaccines. *Pharm Res* 28, 215-36 (2011)

193. LJ Cruz, PJ Tacken, R Fokkink, CG Figdor: The influence of PEG chain length and targeting moiety on antibody-mediated delivery of nanoparticle vaccines to human dendritic cells. *Biomaterials* 32, 6791-803 (2011)

194. GE Poinern, XT Le, S Shan, T Ellis, S Fenwick, J Edwards, D Fawcett: Ultrasonic synthetic technique to manufacture a pHEMA nanopolymeric-based vaccine against the H6N2 avian influenza virus: a preliminary investigation. *Int J Nanomedicine* 6, 2167-74 (2011)

195. K Cheng, K El-Boubbou, CC Landry: Binding of HIV-1 gp120 glycoprotein to silica nanoparticles modified with CD4 glycoprotein and CD4 peptide fragments. *ACS Appl Mater Interfaces* 4, 235-43 (2012)

196. K Pusic, H Xu, A Stridiron, Z Aguilar, A Wang, G Hui: Blood stage merozoite surface protein conjugated to

nanoparticles induce potent parasite inhibitory antibodies. *Vaccine*, 29, 8898-908 (2011)

197. W Li, FC Jr Szoka: Lipid-based nanoparticles for nucleic acid delivery. *Pharm Res* 24, 438-49 (2007)

199. JW Park: Liposome-based drug delivery in breast cancer treatment. *Breast Cancer Res* 4, 95-99 (2002)

200. L vincent, J Varet, JY Pille, H Bompais, P Opolon, A Maksimenko, C Malvy, M.Mirshahi, H Lu, JP Vannier, C Soria, H Li: Efficacy of dendrimer-mediated angiostatin and TIMP-2 gene delivery on inhibition of tumor growth and angiogenesis: *in vitro* and *in vivo* studies. *Int J Cancer* 105, 419- 429 (2003)

201. CH Ahn, SY Chae, YH Bae, SW Kim: Biodegradable poly (ethylenimine) for plasmid DNA delivery. *J Control Release* 80, 273-82 (2002)

202. GF Paciotti, L Myer, D Weinreich, D Goia, N Pavel, RE McLaughlin, L Tamarkin: Colloidal gold: a novel nanoparticle vector for tumor directed drug delivery. *Drug Delivery* 11, 169-183 (2004)

203. G Kaul, M Amiji: Tumor-targeted gene delivery using poly-(ethylene glycol)-modified gelatin nanoparticles: *in vitro* and *in vivo* studies. *Pharm Res* 22, 951-961(2005)

204. W Tan, K Wang, X He, X J Zhao, T Drake, L Wang, RP Bagwe: Bionanotechnology based on silica nanoparticles. *Med Res Rev* 24, 621-638 (2004)

205. C Kneuer, M Sameti, U Bakowsky, T Schiestel, H Schirra, H Schmidt, CM Lehr: A nonviral DNA delivery system based on surface modified silica-nanoparticles cans efficiently transfect cells *in vitro*. *Bioconjugate Chem* 11, 926-932 (2000)

206. C Kneuer, M Sameti, EG Haltner, T Schiestel, H Schirra, H Schmidt, CM Lehr: Silica nanoparticles modified with aminosilanes as carriers for plasmid DNA. *Int J Pharm* 196, 257-261 (2000)

207. N Singh, M Briones, G Ott, D O'Hagan: Cationic microparticles: A potent delivery system for DNA vaccines. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 97, 811-816(2000)

208. M Junghans, J Kreuter, A Zimmer: Antisense delivery using protamine-oligonucleotide particles. *Nucleic Acids Res* 28, E45 (2000)

209. A Mendez-Ardoy, K Urbiola, C Aranda, C Ortiz-Mellet, JM Garcia-Fernandez, C Tros de Ilarduya: Polycationic amphiphilic cyclodextrin-based nanoparticles for therapeutic gene delivery. *Nanomedicine* 6, 1697-707 (2011)

210. J Beloor, CS Choi, HY Nam, M Park, SH Kim, A Jackson, KY Lee, SW Kim, P Kumar, SK Lee: Arginineengrafted biodegradable polymer for the systemic delivery of therapeutic siRNA. *Biomaterials* 33, 1640-50 (2012) 211. DA LaVan, T McGuire, R. Langer: Small-scale systems for in vivo drug delivery. *Nat Biotechnol* 21, 1184-91 (2003)

212. JL Bourges, C Bloquel, A Thomas, F Froussart, A Bochot, F Azan, R Gurny, D BenEzra, F Behar-Cohen: Intraocular implants for extended drug delivery: therapeutic applications. *Adv Drug Deliv Rev* 58, 1182-202 (2006)

213. T Nagakura, K Ishihara, T Furukawa, K Masuda, T Tsuda: Auto-regulated osmotic pump *for* insulin therapy *by* sensing glucose concentration without energy supply. *Sensors* and *Actuators B* 34, 229-233 (1996)

214. N Holmström, P Nilsson, J Carlsten, S Bowald: Longterm in vivo experience of an electrochemical sensor using the potential step technique for measurement of mixed venous oxygen pressure. *Biosens Bioelectron* 13, 1287-95 (1998)

215. DW Northfelt, BJ Dezube, JA Thommes, BJ Miller, MA Fischl, A Friedman-Kien, LD Kaplan, C Du Mond, RD Mamelok, DH Henry: Pegylated-liposomal doxorubicin versus doxorubicin, bleomycin, and vincristine in the treatment of AIDS- related Kaposi's sarcoma: results of a randomized phase III clinical trial. *J Clin Oncol* 16, 2445–2451 (1998)

216. L Zhang, FX Gu, JM Chan, AZ Wang, RS Langer, OC Farokhzad: Nanoparticles in medicine: therapeutic applications and developments. *Clin Pharmacol Ther* 83, 761-9 (2008)

217. WH De Jong, PJA Borm: Drug delivery *and* nanoparticles: applications *and* hazards. *Int J Nanomedicine* 3, 133-149 (2008)

218. PH Hoet, I Bruske-Hohlfeld, OV Salata: Nanoparticles -known and unknown health risks. *J Nanobiotechnol.* 2, 12 (2004)

219. A Nel, T Xia, L Madler, N Li: Toxic potential of materials at the nanolevel. *Science* 311, 622-627 (2006)

220. PJ Borm, W Kreyling: Toxicological hazards of inhaled nanoparticles-potential implications for drug delivery. *J Nanosci Nanotechnol* 4, 521-531 (2004)

221. J Lister: Amphotericin B Lipid Complex (Abelcet) in the treatment of invasive mycoses: the North American experience. *Eur J Haematol Suppl* 57, 18-23 (1996)

222. I Sugiyama, K Kudo, K Takahashi, Y Sadzuka: Utility and improvement of liposome injections AmBisome for clinical use *Yakugaku Zasshi* 130, 457-61 (2010)

223. CE Petre, DP Dittmer: Liposomal daunorubicin as treatment for Kaposi's sarcoma. *Int J Nanomedicine* 2, 277-88 (2007)

224. T Tejada-Berges, CO Granai, M Gordinier, W Gajewski: Caelyx/Doxil for the treatment of metastatic

ovarian and breast cancer. *Expert Rev Anticancer Ther* 2, 143-50 (2002)

225. S Phuphanich, B Maria, R Braeckman, M Chamberlain: A pharmacokinetic study of intra-CSF administered encapsulated cytarabine (DepoCyt) for the treatment of neoplastic meningitis in patients with leukemia, lymphoma, or solid tumors as part of a phase III study. *J Neurooncol* 81, 201-8 (2007)

226. C Hatz, B Beck, R Steffen, B Genton, V d'Acremont, L Loutan, K Hartmann, C Herzog: Real-life versus package insert: a post-marketing study on adverse-event rates of the virosomal hepatitis A vaccine Epaxal® in healthy travellers. *Vaccine* 29, 5000-6 (2011)

227. S Riedemann, G Reinhardt, H Ibarra, GG Frösner: Immunogenicity and safety of a virosomal hepatitis A vaccine (Epaxal) in healthy toddlers and children in Chile. *Acta Paediat*. 93, 412-4 (2004)

228. E Chen, DM Brown, TP Wong, MS Benz, E Kegley, J Cox, RH Fish, RY Kim: Lucentis using Visudyne study: determining the threshold-dose fluence of verteporfin photodynamic therapy combined with intravitreal ranibizumab for exudative macular degeneration. *Clin Ophthalmol* 4, 1073-9 (2010)

229. DM Piedmonte, MJ Treuheit: Formulation of Neulasta (pegfilgrastim). *Adv Drug Deliv Rev* 60, 50-8 (2008)

230. R Xue: Pegasys and ribavirin therapy in an elderly patient with chronic hepatitis C. *Zhonghua Gan Zang Bing Za Zhi.* 19, 627-628 (2011)

231. Y Li, WF Stafford, M Hesselberg, D Hayes, Z Wu, M Byrne: Characterization of the self-association of human interferon- $\alpha$ 2b, albinterferon- $\alpha$ 2b, and pegasys, *J Pharm Sci* 101, 68-80 (2012)

232. P Glue, R Rouzier-Panis, C Raffanel, R Sabo, SK Gupta, M Salfi, S Jacobs, RP Clement: A dose-ranging study of pegylated interferon alfa-2b and ribavirin in chronic hepatitis C. The Hepatitis C Intervention Therapy Group. *Hepatology*, 32, 647-53(2000)

233. EA Slatopolsky, SK Burke, MA Dillon: RenaGel, a nonabsorbed calcium- and aluminum-free phosphate binder, lowers serum phosphorus and parathyroid hormone. The RenaGel Study Group. *Kidney Int.* 55, 299-307 (1999)

234. G Liamis, A Kakafika, E Bairaktari, G Miltiadous, V Tsimihodimos, J Goudevenos, A Achimastos, M Elisaf: Combined treatment with fibrates and small doses of atorvastatin in patients with mixed hyperlipidemia. *Curr Med Res Opin* 18, 125-8 (2002)

235. MJ Demeure, E Stephan, S Sinari, D Mount, S Gately, P Gonzales, G Hostetter, R Komorowski, J Kiefer, CS Grant, H Han, DD Von Hoff, KJ Bussey: Preclinical investigation of nanoparticle albumin-bound Paclitaxel as a potential treatment for adrenocortical cancer. Ann Surg 255, 140-6 (2012)

236. A Baumgartner, O Stich, S Rauer: Anaphylactic reaction after injection of glatiramer acetate (Copaxone®) in patients with relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis. *Eur Neurol* 66, 368-370 (2011)

237. LM Chiechi: Estrasorb. *IDrugs* 7, 860-4 (2004) 238. JA Simon, ESTRASORB Study Group: Estradiol in micellar nanoparticles: the efficacy and safety of a novel transdermal drug-delivery technology in the management of moderate to severe vasomotor symptoms. *Menopause* 13, 222-31(2006)

239. L Orlandi, G Bertoli, G Abolafio, MG Daidone, N Zaffaroni: Effects of liposome-entrapped annamycin in human breast cancer cells: interference with cell cycle progression and induction of apoptosis. *J Cell Biochem* 81, 9-22 (2001)

240. BP Wittgen, PW Kunst, K van der Born, AW van Wijk, W Perkins, FG Pilkiewicz, R Perez-Soler, S Nicholson, GJ Peters, PE Postmus: Phase I study of aerosolized SLIT cisplatin in the treatment of patients with carcinoma of the lung. *Clin Cancer Res* 13, 2414-21 (2007)

241. JW Valle, A Armstrong, C Newman, V Alakhov, G Pietrzynski, J Brewer, S Campbell P Corrie EK Rowinsky, M Ranson: A phase 2 study of SP1049C, doxorubicin in P-glycoprotein-targeting pluronics, in patients with advanced adenocarcinoma of the esophagus and gastroesophageal junction. Invest. *New Drugs* 29, 1029-37 (2011)

242. J Homsi, GR Simon, CR Garrett, G Springett, R De Conti, AA Chiappori, PN Munster, MK Burton, S Stromatt, C Allievi, P Angiuli, A Eisenfeld, DM Sullivan, AI Daud: Phase I trial of poly-L-glutamate camptothecin (CT-2106) administered weekly in patients with advanced solid malignancies. *Clin Cancer Res*13, 5855-61 (2007)

243. P Merle, S Si Ahmed, F Habersetzer, A Abergel, J Taieb, L Bonyhay, D Costantini, J Dufour-Lamartinie, C Trepo: Phase 1 study of intra-arterial hepatic (IAH) delivery of doxorubicin-transdrug (DT) for patients with advanced hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC), Journal of Clinical Oncology (ASCO Annual Meeting Proceedings) 24, 14094 (2006)

244. P Rivera Gil, D Huhn, LL del Mercato, D Sasse, WJ Parak: Nanopharmacy: Inorganic nanoscale devices as vectors and active compounds. *Pharmacol Res* 62, 115-25 (2010)

245. T Jones, M Flack, L Stanberry, JR Baker Jr: Safety, tolerance, pharmacokinetics, and efficacy of topical nanoemulsion (NB- 001) for the treatment of herpes labialis. *J Am Acad Dermatol* . 58, AB93. 28 (2008)

246. AC Mita, AJ Olszanski, RC Walovitch, RP Perez, K MacKay, DP Tuck, C Simmons, S Hammond, MM Mita, M Beeram, AJ Stone, EK Rowinsky, LD Lewis: Phase I and pharmacokinetic study of AI-850, a novel microparticle hydrophobic drug delivery system for paclitaxel. *Clin Cancer Res* 13, 3293-301 (2007)

247. JA Straub, DE Chickering, JC Lovely, H Zhang, B Shah, WR Waud, H Bernstein: Intravenous hydrophobic drug delivery: a porous particle formulation of paclitaxel (AI-850) *Pharm Res* 22, 347-55 (2005)

248. YP Chan, R Meyrueix, R Kravtzoff, O Soula: Basulin, a long-acting formulation of human insulin based on medusa nanoparticles. *Nanobiotechnology* 1, 317-318 (2005)

249. R Rupp, SL Rosentha, LR Stanberry: VivaGel (SPL7013 Gel): a candidate dendrimer--microbicide for the prevention of HIV and HSV infection. *Int J Nanomedicine* 2, 561-6 (2007)

250. D Matei, J Schilder, G Sutton, S Perkins, T Breen, C Quon, C Sidor: Activity of 2 methoxyestradiol (Panzem NCD) in advanced, platinum-resistant ovarian cancer and primary peritoneal carcinomatosis: a Hoosier Oncology Group trial. *Gynecol Oncol* 115, 90-6 (2009)

251. DP Nowotnik, E Cvitkovic: ProLindac (AP5346): a review of the development of HPMA DACH platinum Polymer Therapeutic. *Adv Drug Deliv Rev* 61, 1214-9 (2009)

252. J Gerspach, H Wajant, K Pfizenmaier: Death ligands designed to kill: development and application of targeted cancer therapeutics based on proapoptotic TNF family ligands. *Results Probl Cell Differ* 49, 241-73 (2009)

253. CA Poland, R Duffin, I Kinloch, A Maynard, WA Wallace, A Seaton, V Stone, S Brown, W Macnee, K Donaldson: Carbon nanotubes introduced into the abdominal cavity of mice show asbestos-like pathogenicity in a pilot study. *Nat Nanotechnol* 3, 423-8 (2008)

254. ACL Tang, GL Hwang, SJ Tsai, MY. Chang, ZCW Tang: Biosafety of Non-Surface Modified Carbon Nanocapsules as a Potential Alternative to Carbon Nanotubes for Drug Delivery Purposes. *PLoS ONE* 7, e32893 (2012)

255. C Fang, B Shi, YY Pei, MH Hong, J Wu, HZ Chen: In vivo tumor targeting of tumor necrosis factor-alpha-loaded stealth nanoparticles: effect of MePEG molecular weight and particle size. *Eur J Pharm Sci.* 27, 27-36 (2006)

256. SW Song, K Hidajat, S Kawi: Functionalized SBA-15 materials as carriers for controlled drug delivery: influence of surface properties on matrix-drug interactions. *Langmuir* 21, 9568-75 (2005)

**Key Words:** Nanoparticle, Pharmaceuticals, Delivery System, Nanoparticle Based Drugs, Review

Send correspondence to: Chiranjib Chakraborty, Department of bio-informatics, School of computer and information sciences, Galgotias University, Greater noida, India, Tel: 91-9871608125, Fax: 91-120-451399 *E*-mail: drchiranjib@yahoo.com